
TTRRAACCEE YYOOUURR IIMMMMIIGGRRAANNTT

AANNCCEESSTTOORRSS IINN SSIIXX EEAASSYY SSTTEEPPSS!!

African-American Research
on the ‘Net • Google Maps •
Online Historical Maps •
Spring Cleaning: Genealogy
Style! • Finding Answers in
the Obituaries • AND MORE!

PPLLUUSS::

0
5

0
7

5
6
6
9
8

2
8
4
4
7

Hobbies: Genealogy

July 2008

$6
.9

5

P
ublication M

ail A
greem

ent N
o. 40062922

Researching Your Family Roots Online

www.internet-genealogy.com

JJuullyy  22000088

GGEERRMMAANN RROOOOTTSS

IG 14  COVER.qxd  4/24/2008  12:10 PM  Page 1



JonathanSheppard.qxd  3/11/2008  10:44 AM  Page 1



HOME PAGE . . . . . . . . 5
NET NOTES . . . . . . . . 6
Ghost Towns USA & United States Ghost
Towns, ResourceShelf, The Poorhouse Story

WHAT’S COMING IN
INTERNET GENEALOGY . . 8
A peek at what we are working on 
for future issues

ONLINE CATALOGS
AND DATABASES OF
ENGLISH COUNTY
RECORD OFFICES . . . . . 9
Alan Stewart takes you on a tour of what
is available at these important repositories

CASE STUDY: WHERE
DID THEY GO? . . . . . . 13
Janice Nickerson explains how she
tracked down her Great-Great-Aunts 
and Uncle

AFRICAN AMERICAN
RESEARCH ON THE
‘NET: RESOURCES FOR
BLACK HISTORY AND
GENEALOGY . . . . . . . . 17
Janice Nickerson shows what’s available
for African American research

SPRING CLEANING:
GENEALOGY STYLE! . . . 21
Donna J. Pointkouski looks at online 
organizational tools that won’t cost a
penny!

MAPS FOCUS: BOUNDARY
CHANGES AFFECT THE
DIRECTION OF YOUR
RESEARCH . . . . . . . . 25
Donna Murray shows what’s online for
boundary line changes

MAPS FOCUS: CREATE A
CUSTOM GOOGLE MAP . 28
Bill Puller shows you how to customize the 
‘net’s most popular search engine

MAPS FOCUS: FINDING THE
FAMILY FARM WITH ONLINE
HISTORICAL MAPS . . . 30
Richard Crooks goes in search of the old 
homestead

www.internet-genealogy.com

IINNSSIIDDEEInternetGGGGEEEENNNNEEEEAAAALLLLOOOOGGGGYYYY
GENEALOGY WHILE YOU
SLEEP. . . . . . . . . . . 32
Lisa A. Alzo shows you how to make the
most of your valuable genealogy time

A NEW AND
IMPROVED WORLD VITAL
RECORDS . . . . . . . . . 36
Diane L. Richard looks at the recent
changes at this vital online resource

FINDING QUAKER
ANCESTORS . . . . . . . 40
David A. Norris takes a look at what’s
available online for your Quaker ancestors

FINDING ANSWERS IN
THE OBITUARIES . . . . 44
Donna Murray shows you how to search
obituaries online

THE GERMAN
CONNECTION . . . . . . . 47
Rick Crume shows you how to track
down your German ancestors in six 
easy steps

WORLDCONNECT
PROJECT . . . . . . . . . 52
Marian Press shows what you can find at
this important website for genealogists
and family historians

FREE ONLINE ARCHIVES
OF THE NEW YORK
TIMES . . . . . . . . . . 54
David A. Norris gets the scoop on a great
Internet-based resource

22112211

11771177

44774477

55225522

33223322

INTERNET Genealogy • June/July 2008 3

Contents14.qxd  4/24/2008  12:13 PM  Page 1



www.internet-genealogy.com

NNEEEEDD TTOO CCAATTCCHH UUPP OONN
YYOOUURR BBAACCKK IISSSSUUEESS??

Looking for Year One or Year Two of Internet Genealogy on
CD? Each issue comes as a separate PDF file and you get the

same full color, full size articles as in the printed magazine. The
best part is, you don’t have to worry about storing them!

BEST DEAL! GET BOTH CDS FOR $30

BONUS: INCLUDES A
FREE 56-PAGE ISSUE OF

DISCOVERING FAMILY
HISTORY!

BONUS: INCLUDES
FREE PREVIEW ISSUE
AND 56-PAGE EXTRA

ISSUE!

+

USA Orders Canadian Orders
� Year One (8 issues on CD) at $20 US � Year One (8 issues on CD) at $20 CDN + GST*
� Year Two (6 issues on CD) at $20 US � Year Two (6 issues on CD) at $20 CDN + GST*
� Best Deal! BOTH CDs for $30 US � Best Deal! BOTH CDs for $30 CDN + GST*
Payment by: � Check (enclosed)  Charge my Credit Card: � Visa  �MasterCard
*Residents of NB, NL & NS add HST instead of GST. Ontario residents add 8% PST. Quebec residents add 7.5% QST.
PayPal is accepted on our website (www.internet-genealogy.com).

Card Number____________________________________________ Expiry Date _____ /_______

Signature_______________________________________________
Note: Your credit card charge will appear as MAGAZIN 888-326-2476. 

First Name_________________________________  Last Name ________________________________________

Address___________________________________________________________________________ City_____________________ 

State/Prov. _________  Zip/Postal Code __________ Phone Number__________________________  GST# 139340186 RT

Please allow three to six weeks for delivery.

IG 14

$20
EACH

INCLUDES

SHIPPING! 

YEAR ONE YEAR TWO

•Phone Toll-Free 1-888-326-2476. Please have your Visa or MasterCard ready.
•Mail to Internet Genealogy, PO Box 194, Niagara Falls, NY 14304 (from USA)

Internet Genealogy, 500-505 Consumers Rd, Toronto, ON M2J 4V8
(from Canada)

IG CD AD.qxd  4/24/2008  12:18 PM  Page 1



www.internet-genealogy.com INTERNET Genealogy • June/July 2008 5

JUNE/JULY 2008
VOLUME 3, NUMBER 2

FOUNDER:
Halvor Moorshead
PUBLISHER & EDITOR:

Ed Zapletal
edward@moorshead.com

ASSOCIATE EDITOR: 
Marc Skulnick

marc@moorshead.com

ASSISTANT EDITOR: 
Victoria King

victoria@moorshead.com

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT:
Nicole Votta

CIRCULATION DIRECTOR:
Rick Cree

rick@moorshead.com

ADVERTISING SERVICES: 
Jeannette Cox 

jeannette@moorshead.com 

POSTAL INFORMATION — CANADA
Publications Mail Agreement No. 40062922

Return undeliverable Canadian addresses to:
Internet Genealogy, Circulation Dept., 

505 Consumers Road, Suite 500, 
Toronto, Ontario, M2J 4V8 Canada. 

E-mail: general@internet-genealogy.com

POSTAL INFORMATION — UNITED STATES
Postmaster send address corrections to:

Internet Genealogy, PO Box 194, Niagara Falls, NY
14304.

E-mail: general@internet-genealogy.com
ISSN 1718-0414

© 2008 Moorshead Magazines Ltd. 
SUBSCRIPTIONS

Internet Genealogy is published six times a year
(Apr/May, Jun/Jul, Aug/Sep, Oct/Nov, Dec/Jan,

Feb/Mar). 
Subscription rate for US (US funds): 

1 year (6 issues) $28, 
2 years (12 issues) $45, 3 years (18 issues) $64.

Subscription rate for Canada (Cdn funds): 
1 year (6 issues) $32,

2 years (12 issues) $52, 3 years (18 issues) $67. 
Please add GST/HST (GST# 139340186 RT). 

Quebec residents add 7.5% QST. 
We welcome the submission of articles for publication.

Please address e-mail proposals to 
publisher@internet-genealogy.com. We will always contact
people who submit articles but the review process may

take several weeks. Authors’ notes are available at 
www.internet-genealogy.com/author_notes.htm 

Toll-Free Subscription Line: 
1-888-326-2476

Printed in Canada

Published by Moorshead Magazines Ltd.
505 Consumers Road, Suite 500,
Toronto, ON, M2J 4V8 Canada

(416) 491-3699 Fax (416) 491-3996
Moorshead Magazines also publishes 

Family Chronicle, Discovering Family History
and History Magazine.

IG14

InternetGGGGEEEENNNNEEEEAAAALLLLOOOOGGGGYYYY

www.internet-genealogy.com

The editors of Internet Genealogy love to hear from you, the reader.
When we attend or exhibit at conventions, we have dozens of people
who come up to us to comment on the magazine. 

Almost all the comments are kind; these are nice to hear, but the
most useful feedback is critical comments, remarks about specific 
articles and ideas for future issues. 

We don’t want you to wait until you see us in person. Let us
know how we are doing; we really do read all your comments! 

Send your e-mails to feedback@internet-genealogy.com. 

INTERNET GENEALOGY FEEDBACK

THE CHALLENGES OF RESEARCHING YOUR ROOTS
EVERYONE WHO UNDERTAKES the task of researching their genealogy
will face many challenges on this long and seemingly never-ending
quest. For me, researching my Czech roots is difficult because of my
lack of knowledge and practice of the Czech language. This is not
something I’m particularly proud of, but circumstances dictated oth-
erwise. Both of my parents were born in what was then
Czechoslovakia and emigrated with their respective families at the
outbreak of WWII. My brother and I were born in Canada and we
were schooled in English language public schools. As we were
growing up, my parents spoke Czech around the house, but they too
were immersed in English language schools as young children on
their arrival in 1939. They were then employed in a mostly English-
speaking workforce. As a result, English became the prevailing lan-
guage in our household and the use of the Czech language was not
a priority.

Now that I am actively researching my ancestors, I am desperate
to learn my “ancestral tongue” so that I might be able to communi-
cate with the locals when I go back to the “old country” on future
research expeditions. Needless to say, I have lots of work ahead of
me. In a future issue of this magazine, I hope to detail my progress
in researching my Czech roots.

This brings me to one of the many excellent features in this issue
of Internet Genealogy. In “The German Connection”, author Rick
Crume details some of the problems associated with researching
your European line and offers some answers in the way of six easy
steps to tracing your German roots. Our three Maps Focus features
will also help you to better understand a number of issues related to
using online maps, and Donna Murray reveals some tips on search-
ing online obituaries.

LOOKING AHEAD
This is my first issue as co-owner (with Rick Cree) and publisher of
Internet Genealogy and its sister publications Family Chronicle,
Discovering Family History and History Magazine. After more than 30
years in publishing, Halvor Moorshead is retiring to enjoy a life of
traveling and doing his own genealo-
gy. I am proud to say that he has been
my mentor and friend for almost 25
years and I am most grateful for his
guidance and friendship over that
time. Anyone in the genealogy world
who has met Halvor will surely agree
that he is one of the “greats” in the
business.

Ed Zapletal
edward@moorshead.com
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HOW OFTEN DO you find an ancestor listed in a com-
munity and when you look at a modern map, you
can’t find it? That might be because the locale is one
of “over 50,000 ghost towns, near ghost towns, semi-
ghost towns, and tiny backwater burgs that have
faded greatly from their peak times.” Many of these
places are discussed
on these two web-
sites, both of which
are organized by
state.

Research in
North Carolina of
some families in the
Swain County area
introduced me to the
Tennessee Valley
Authority, the
Fontana Lake/Dam
Project and the relo-
cation of those buried
at Judson Cemetery
to Lauada Cemetery;
flooding out an area
to make a lake creates
such a need. The out-
come of all this was
that the community
of Judson (once 600
residents strong) dis-
appeared from the
landscape of North
Carolina by 1944
when the dam was
completed. Judson is
one of the listed
ghost towns. 

Some places are
infamous, such as
North Carolina’s Fort
Raleigh/The Lost
Colony and James-
town in Virginia,
while many other
communities were formed in response to fleeting
events, such as the various gold and other rushes,
and disappeared just as quickly. Check out
California: “From crumbling desert ruins to the
majestic ghost [of] Bodie... to the remains of hun-
dreds of transient 49’er gold camps… well over 9,000
locations”. 

There are those communities affected by the
switch from wagon and horse trails to the advent of
the railroad. In the summer of 2007, I visited one of

these, Appomattox Court House. It was formed in
1819, and rose to historical significance when General
Robert E. Lee surrendered to General Ulysses S.
Grant there, ending the US Civil War. After the war,
the prosperity faltered, the nearby railroad station of
Appomattox Station grew and, in 1892, the court-

house burned down.
This was the death
knell for Appomattox
Court House, as the
county seat was
transferred to
Appomattox Station,
which dropped the
“station” from its
name.

Other communi-
ties weren’t success-
ful due to the loca-
tion or conditions
that were not con-
ducive to agricultural
or some other eco-
nomic activity. Take
for example,
Glastenbury
(Bennington County),
Vermont. “The town
was chartered in
1761, and it grew
slowly, with only 53
folks living here in
1840… in 1880
reached its peak of
241 people. By the
1930s it had faded
and was classified as
a ghost town…
Because the altitude
was a little higher
than surrounding
towns, the buck-
wheat, corn, oats,
potatoes and rye did-

n’t do as well. Sheep were also raised and the local
maples tapped for syrup. Local trees were harvested
and burned for charcoal… [by 1882] the trees were
gone and the charcoal industry died out. People left,
and by 1930 only seven remained. In 1937 the town
was officially disbanded, and the former town is now
being reclaimed by nature.”

The pages of these websites are filled with many
more stories, all of which impacted somebody’s
ancestors — maybe yours? — DIANE L. RICHARD

GHOST TOWNS USA & UNITED STATES GHOST TOWNS
http://freepages.history.rootsweb.com/~gtusa/usa.htm & http://www.ghosttowns.com/ghosttownsusa.html 

INTERNET GENEALOGY LOOKS AT WEBSITES AND RELATED NEWS THAT ARE SURE TO BE OF INTEREST

NNeett  NNootteess

Above: Bodie, California was once home to 10,000 people and 
is now considered the US’s best preserved ghost town. 

Below: Chloride, Arizona once had 2,000 residents. 
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THOUGH WE’D LIKE to think that our ancestors never
had need for a poorhouse (poorfarm, almshouse, et
al), the vagaries of life sometimes necessitated a stay
in such a house — essentially, an early form of what
we now call “welfare”. This is a great site to learn
about the history of the poorhouse system, plus it
includes lots of information, organized by state. 

As the site states, its purpose is “To provide a
clearinghouse for information about 19th century
American Poorhouses for... history buffs, genealo-
gists, teachers/students, and others with a similar
interest.”

I found this site as I was researching George
Overby, “a tramp from Fayetteville”, as the Durham
Tobacco Plant newspaper stated in January 1881. Since
the newspaper article went on to talk about how he
had to serve 30 days in the poorhouse, I was curious
to learn more about his plight. Though I didn’t learn
much about Durham’s poorhouse, for North Carolina

I found a list of poorhouse locations, a list of the State
of North Carolina Archives’ holdings on the subject
(typically accounts and minutes of “Wardens of the
Poor”, this system ended in 1868 to be replaced by
the Boards of County Commissioners, until 1919), as
well as some transcriptions of relevant records,
images and more. 

This made me curious about other states and
their records — it’s easy to browse the various states.
The available information is presented in much the
same order on each state’s page.

As with any resource, the amount of material
varies greatly from state-to-state — due to record
availability and partially because the site depends on
information supplied by volunteers. 

While a poorhouse stay may or may not be part
of your family tree, visit and get a fascinating
glimpse of this 19th-century institution. —
DIANE L. RICHARD

THE INTRO TO THIS website is intriguing: “Welcome to
ResourceShelf, where dedicated librarians and
researchers share the results of their directed (and
occasionally quirky) web searches for resources and
information.” 

The key person behind ResourceShelf is Gary
Price, a librarian and the Director of Online
Information Resources at Ask.com. With that atten-
tion grabbing introduction and those credentials, I
decided to check it out.

On the left-hand side you find a list of cate-
gories. Wearing my Internet genealogist hat, I discov-
ered the following of particular interest: Information
Science (Digital Repositories, Digitization Projects,
etc.) and Resources (Archives and Special
Collections, Arts & Humanities — Genealogy,
History, etc.) 

With a category called genealogy, how could I
resist? Some recent entries in this category were:
• UK: Search the “Burnt” records online for the first

time (referring to WWI Records)
• Genealogy Research and Social

Networking: Myfamily.com
Launches Free, Enhanced Beta
Version of Family-Focused
Social Networking Site

• U.S. National Archives and
FamilySearch Team Up to
Digitize and Index Mountains
of Historic Documents (See
also: Plenty of Primary Material
to Go Around, Visit Footnote.)

• National Personnel Records
Center Opens more than Six

Million New Military Personnel Files
• Genealogy Research: North America Local and

County Histories to Go Online
A quick peak at Digitization Projects revealed:

• UK: Spectacular Hidden Treasures Online for the
First Time

• UK: 30 Years Later: Historic Documents from 1977
via UK National Archives Now Available (Free)

• The Race to the Shelf Continues: The Open Content
Alliance and Amazon.com

And, an even quicker look at Archives and
Special Collections disclosed:
• Chronicling America and Building the National

Digital Newspaper Program
• Digging Deep at the National Archives (piece in

Prologue, the NARA publication)
These are news items that I typically would have

learned about from a variety of sources — making it
nice to have them in one place. You can also “search”
using keywords. And, there is an associated weekly
newsletter to which you can subscribe, http://www.

resourceshelf.com/newsletter
/subscribe/ plus an RSS feed,
http://www.resourceshelf.com/feed/.

Whether you’re a “news
junkie” or looking for information
on new online genealogy research
databases, ResourceShelf is great
in that it’s a collection of
resources that aren’t solely
focused on genealogy, yet have
great relevance to our research! —
DIANE L. RICHARD

IG

RESOURCESHELF
http://www.resourceshelf.com

THE POORHOUSE STORY
http://www.poorhousestory.com
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The features mentioned here are planned for future issues. Circumstances may affect the final content.
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Diane L. Richard explains why wikis are vital to your
family history research

...and Much More! 

�� WWHHAATT’’SS WWIITTHH AALLLL TTHHEE FFUUSSSS AABBOOUUTT
WWIIKKIISS??

Howard Mathieson shows you how to organize online
maps to make the most of your digital research
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PICASA • TOP GENEALOGY MYTHS • EVALUATING A WEBSITE •
ONLINE MAPS • PROJECT STORYKEEPER • ELLIS ISLAND 

Lisa A. Alzo shows you how to find your Russian ancestors
online
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COUNTIES (OR SHIRES) have been the
main administrative divisions in
England for at least a thousand
years. The Anglo-Saxons called
them “shires”, and many take
their names from the “county
town” (administrative center).
Among these counties are
Gloucestershire, Leicestershire,
Wiltshire (from the old
county town of Wilton)
and Hampshire (from
Southampton).

Many older counties
don’t (or shouldn’t) have
the word “shire” in their
names, such as Essex
(land of the East Saxons),
Somerset (people of
Somerton), Northumber-
land (land north of the
River Humber), Suffolk
(south folk) and Kent (a
name from pre-Roman
times). The Normans
introduced the word
“county”, but only
County Durham should
have the word placed
before its name (like all
the counties in Ireland).

County record offices
(in many cases known as
archives) hold for their
own areas many docu-
ments of interest to
genealogists, such as reg-
isters of baptisms, mar-
riages and burials, wills
and administrations, poor
law records (including set-
tlement certificates, bas-
tardy bonds and work-
house registers), census returns
and prison records, as well as
maps and photographs.

All the record offices have
websites, which you can find via
the ARCHON Directory
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/archon.
Most of the record offices have put
catalogs of their collections online,
many have online indexes of spe-
cific records, and a few have made
digitized records available online.
You can also find useful informa-

tion about the records on the web-
sites, which are all accessible, free
of charge.

Most of the record offices will
carry out some research on your
behalf, usually on payment of a
fee. So once you’ve found out
about the existence of records that
are of interest, you can e-mail the

record office to inquire about get-
ting copies made and what the
cost would be.

BEDFORDSHIRE AND LUTON
ARCHIVES AND RECORDS SERVICE
(BLARS)
www.bedfordshire.gov.uk/Community
AndLiving/ArchivesAndRecordOffice
/ArchivesAndRecordOffice.aspx
You can search the BLARS online
catalog and the site also contains a
database of prisoners in Bedford

Gaol between 1801 and 1879.
There are also information

pages about the many different
types of genealogy-related records
held by BLARS. You can view lists
of its collection of Church of
England, Roman Catholic and
Nonconformist church registers,
showing the dates covered for

each parish. 
The site also contains

nearly 500 pages on 41
Bedfordshire communi-
ties. In 10 years’ time,
every community in the
county should have a
short history of all its
churches, chapels, schools,
mills, public houses and
other important buildings.
The website also contains
information on “unusual
census returns and popu-
lation lists”, and transcrip-
tions of about a dozen of
these early lists are avail-
able online. 

CENTRE FOR
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE
STUDIES
www.buckscc.gov.uk/bcc
/content/index.jsp?
contentid=-746638797
Here you can search a
database of prisoners in
Aylesbury Gaol in the
1870s (with some photo-
graphs), an index of wills
proved locally from 1483 to
1858, and photographs of
the High Wycombe area.

CAMBRIDGESHIRE RECORD OFFICE
www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/leisure
/archives/catalogue
Here you can search the archives
catalog of the historic counties of
Cambridgeshire and Hunting-
donshire.

CHESHIRE AND CHESTER ARCHIVES
AND LOCAL STUDIES
www.cheshire.gov.uk/Recordoffice
/catalogues
At the website, you can search the

OOnnlliinnee  CCaattaallooggss  aanndd  DDaattaabbaasseess  ooff  
EEnngglliisshh  CCoouunnttyy  RReeccoorrdd  OOffffiicceess
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ALAN STEWART TAKES YOU ON A TOUR OF WHAT IS AVAILABLE AT

Ely Cathedral in Cambridgeshire. 
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main archives catalog. There are
also databases of locally-proved
wills and administrations from
1492 to 1940; railway staff in west-
ern Cheshire, Shropshire,
Herefordshire, and north and mid
Wales from around 1869 to 1950;
freemen of the City of Chester
1747-1925; and burial records of
Overleigh Cemetery, Chester from
1850 to 1950. In addition, the site
also holds 19th-century maps of
the county, as well as 20th-century
maps and aerial photographs for
comparison.

CUMBRIA ARCHIVE SERVICE
www.cumbria.gov.uk/archives
An online catalog will be available
shortly at the website of the
Cumbria Archive Service, covering
the historic counties of
Cumberland, Westmorland and
the northern part of Lancashire. 

DERBYSHIRE RECORD OFFICE
www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/record
_office 
The record office site has informa-
tion on the coverage of Church of
England and Nonconformist
church registers, as well as its own
online catalog. You can also view
an index of Derbyshire wills from
1858 to 1928, administrations from
1858 to 1875 and a searchable
prison records database currently
covering the period 1800-39.

DURHAM COUNTY RECORD OFFICE
www.durham.gov.uk/recordoffice/usp.nsf
On its website, you can find the
main catalog, which includes a
large number of photographs
(mostly of members of the
Durham Light Infantry, and the
remainder of locations in the
county). In addition, there is a
Durham Collieries Database, as
the county was an important min-
ing area.

ESSEX RECORD OFFICE
http://seax.essexcc.gov.uk/login.asp 
Not only can you search the
record office’s catalog, you can
also view many of its holdings
online. There are digital images of
Essex (and eastern Hertfordshire)
wills, parish registers, directories,
photographs, drawings, maps and
plans, bastardy orders, settlement
certificates and removal orders,
such as the following:

8 November 1787 [Removal order for
vagrant, with settlement examination]
Mordecai Norman was arrested in
Terling, held at Chelmsford House of
Correction, and ordered to be removed
to Saffron Walden.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ARCHIVES
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/index.cfm
?articleid=13494 
The website has a main catalog
and an online Genealogical
Database at www.gloucestershire
.gov.uk/index.cfm?ArticleID=1335,
which indexes wills proved locally

EEnngglliisshh  CCoouunnttyy  RReeccoorrdd  OOffffiicceess

The Access to Archives (A2A) site indexes the cata-
logs of English county record offices and many other
repositories, although a lot of record offices have
their own, more detailed online catalogs. 

Some of the A2A collections are indexed to some
depth, however, and you can try searching for settle-
ment certificates, bastardy bonds, etc., by surname
or parish name. If you’re lucky and the area you’re
interested in has indexed its collections in detail,
then you may find something like these entries:

Settlement certificate: Joseph Southgate, Thomasin his wife
and their family, St. Margaret, Ipswich, 9th March, 1701.

Ashton in Makerfield. Order of filiation and maintenance of
James, bastard child of William Gaskell, nailer, and Sarah
Bretton, singlewoman.

Although some Welsh record office collections are
included in A2A (including the probate index of the
National Library of Wales), you can find Welsh collec-
tions cataloged in more detail at Archives Network
Wales, www.archivesnetworkwales.info. Information on
record collections held by 52 Scottish archives is
searchable at the Scottish Archive Network site,
www.scan.org.uk, although you’ll find those held by
the National Archives of Scotland at www.nas.gov.uk.

ACCESS TO ARCHIVES
www.a2a.org.uk 

The stately home Audley End in Essex. 
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from 1541 to 1858, Nonconformist
church baptisms, overseers of the
poor records, and prison records
from 1815-79.

HAMPSHIRE RECORD OFFICE
www.hants.gov.uk/record-office/catalog
/index.html 
The catalog contains descriptions
of nearly all the collections of the
Hampshire Record Office, includ-
ing all wills proved locally up to
1858 and most wills up to 1900. In
addition, it contains digital images
of a large number of Hampshire
photographs.

KENT ARCHIVES SERVICE
www.kentarchives.org
Here, the catalogs of the
Centre for Kentish Studies,
East Kent Archives Centre
and Canterbury Cathedral
Archives are accessible. The
Here’s History Kent website,
www.hereshistorykent.org.uk,
has information, photo-
graphs and maps of Kent
parishes and towns, as well
as guides to many of the
archive records, a timeline
and a Kent encyclopedia.

LANCASHIRE RECORD OFFICE
www.lancashire.gov
.uk/education/record_office
/index.asp 
Here you’ll find an index of
police records for the
Lancashire County
Constabulary from 1840 to
1925, information on periods
covered by Church of
England, Roman Catholic
and Nonconformist church
registers, and images of vari-
ous old maps and town
plans of Lancashire.

RECORD OFFICE FOR
LEICESTERSHIRE, LEICESTER AND
RUTLAND
www.leics.gov.uk/index/community
/museums/record_office.htm 
You can search the record office’s
online catalog, which includes
many Quarter Sessions records, as
well as coal mining, mental health
and parish records. At the website,
there is also a “Gypsy Index” of
many of the people who have
passed through the counties.

LINCOLNSHIRE ARCHIVES
http://microsites.lincolnshire.gov
.uk/Archives 
You can find an index of wills
proved locally from 1701 to 1800
on the website and a database of
convicts transported to Bermuda,
Australia and Gibraltar between
1788 and 1868. In addition, the site
holds information on the periods
covered by the church registers
and bishop’s transcripts of parish-
es in the diocese of Lincoln, as
well as those in its “peculiar”
jurisdictions in the counties of
Hertfordshire, Leicestershire and

Nottinghamshire (one parish
each), Northamptonshire (eight
parishes) and Rutland (five parish-
es).

LONDON METROPOLITAN ARCHIVES
www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/corporation
/wills
At the London Signatures site, you
can search in a database of wills
proved in the Archdeaconry Court
of Middlesex (covering some
parishes in urban Westminster, as

well as those in some rural parts
of Middlesex) from 1608 to 1611
and 1662 to 1810 (although there
are few after 1780). 

The database also holds mar-
riage bonds proved in the
Commissary Court for the
Archdeaconry of Surrey (covering
most of the county of Surrey) 

MEDWAY ARCHIVES
http://cityark.medway.gov.uk
At the CityArk website, you can
view digitized parish registers for
the towns of Rochester, Strood,
Chatham and Gillingham (former-

ly in Kent, but now forming
Medway “unitary authori-
ty”). The records include
civil registration marriages
up to 1953 (with an incom-
plete index of marriages cov-
ering 1837-1911), as well as
20th-century baptism and
burial records. CityArk’s
“imagebase” also includes
shipping registers, burial
registers and photographs
(including those of nearly 40
members of the Rochester
Book Club around 1876).

ARCHIVES IN NORFOLK
www.noah.norfolk.gov.uk 
The Norfolk Online Access
to Heritage (NOAH) site lets
you search the collections of
Norfolk’s record office,
libraries and museums.
NOAH indexes newspaper
articles, information on
Norfolk churches, and docu-
ments in Norfolk Record
Office (with a link to NRO-
CAT, the record office’s
online catalog at
www.archives.norfolk.gov
.uk/nroindex.htm). In addi-
tion, photographs of

Norfolk, wills and administrations
from 1800 to 1858, trade directo-
ries, photographs in the Royal
Norfolk Regimental Museum and
tithe, enclosure and other historic
maps are indexed (all with
images).

EEnngglliisshh  CCoouunnttyy  RReeccoorrdd  OOffffiicceess
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St Martin-in-the-Fields is at
the northeastern corner of
Trafalgar Square in London.
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NOTTINGHAMSHIRE ARCHIVES
www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/home
/leisure/archives/archivesnews.htm#
storyfindingaids 
Here you can find information on
the years covered for Church of
England parish registers (includ-
ing bishop’s transcripts) and
Nonconformist (including Roman
Catholic) church registers. The
lists include information on
register indexes (including
the International
Genealogical Index) and
transcripts (including those
made by Phillimore, which
are available on CD and
online at www.family
relatives.com).

ARCHIVES IN OXFORDSHIRE
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps
/portal/publicsite/doitonline
/finditonline/heritage 
Oxfordshire’s Heritage
Search portal lets you search
the Oxford Record Office’s
online catalog and an index
of people named in poor law
records from 1601 to 1861. In
addition, you can also search
Oxfordshire Studies’
Photographic Archive,
which contains a large num-
ber of images.

SHROPSHIRE ARCHIVES
http://archives.shropshire.
gov.uk
You can search Shropshire
Archives’ online catalog
here. 

SOMERSET ARCHIVE AND RECORD
SERVICE
www.somerset.gov.uk/archives
You can search the online catalog,
as well as a summary of genealogi-
cal records by parish. In addition,
there are indexes of wills proved
locally from 1812 to 1857,
Bridgwater Shipping crew lists and
prisoners in Ilchester Gaol.

STAFFORDSHIRE AND STOKE-ON-
TRENT ARCHIVE SERVICE
www.staffordshire.gov.uk/leisure
/archives/OnlineCatalogues
You can access several online cata-
logs, such as Gateway to the Past
(an online catalog with informa-
tion on most of Staffordshire’s col-

lections), Staffordshire Views
(images of watercolours, draw-
ings, sketches, engravings and
lithographs), Staffordshire Police
Index from 1842 to 1977 and
Staffordshire Online Gazetteer
(with links to Gateway to the Past
catalog entries). You can order a
transcript of a police record for
about $10.

WARWICKSHIRE COUNTY RECORD
OFFICE
www.warwickshire.gov.uk/county
recordoffice
Here you can search several data-
bases, including “Warwickshire’s
Past Unlocked”, the record office
online catalog. There is also a
Tithe Apportionments database
covering the period 1838-53 with
information on landowners, occu-
piers, names and sizes of plots of
land, and the rents payable. In
addition, you can search in a data-
base of prisoners in Birmingham,
Coventry and Warwick Gaols
between 1800 and 1900.

WILTSHIRE AND SWINDON
ARCHIVES
http://history.wiltshire.gov.uk/heritage
/index.php
You can find all the wills and
administrations proved locally
between 1540 and 1858 for the
counties of Wiltshire and
Berkshire in the archives’ online
catalog. Digital images of around

a quarter of the documents
are also available. Once
images are online for all the
wills and administrations,
the currently free site will
move to a pay-per-view
basis. You can also find
information on Wiltshire
communities (261 so far,
with a further 180 to be
added later) at www.wilt
shire.gov.uk/community. 

ARCHIVES IN YORKSHIRE
www.archives.wyjs.org.
uk/index.asp?pg=indexhome
.htm and 
www.eastriding.gov.uk/libraries
/archives/welcome.html 
You can search the online
catalogs of the West
Yorkshire Archive Service
and the East Riding of
Yorkshire Archives and
Local Studies Service at
these two sites. The website
of Rotherham Metropolitan
Borough Council, at
www.rotherham.gov.uk, has
pages with brief histories of
local towns and villages. The
Borthwick Institute of the
University of York has a

good deal of information available
online at www.york.ac.uk/inst/bihr
/Guidesandfindingaids.htm, about
the parish registers, bishop’s tran-
scripts, probate records, marriage
bonds and other documents that it
holds.

EEnngglliisshh  CCoouunnttyy  RReeccoorrdd  OOffffiicceess

12 INTERNET Genealogy • June/July 2008 www.internet-genealogy.com

IG

All Saints Church at Great Bourton in Oxfordshire, with
separate bell tower at the front. 

Alan Stewart is a member of the
Scotland’s People User Group
and the author of Gathering the
Clans: Tracing Scottish Ancestry
on the Internet (Phillimore),
available in North America from
the David Brown Book Company
(www.oxbowbooks.com/book
info.cfm/ID/59223).
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ONE OF MY LONG-TERM “to-do” proj-
ects has been to investigate the fate
of five of my great-grandfather’s
siblings, who, my grandfather
said, “went to Detroit in 1910.” 

I first heard about this many
years ago, when there was no
Internet. It seemed like an onerous
task, so I left it for another day.
Now, with all the new tools avail-
able online, I decided that the time
was right to see what I could learn
about my long-lost great-great-
aunts and uncle.

The five great-great-aunts and
uncle were Jessie Jemima Carter (b.
1861); Francis Ernest Carter (b.
1864); Alice Eva Lena North Carter
(b. 1866); Lillian May Carter (b.
1874; m. Frank Johnson 1904); and
Alberta Reinette Carter (b. 1880; m.
Harold Mertz 1906).

Left behind in Canada were
the eldest, William John Carter (b.
1859); my great-grandfather, John
George Carter (b.1872); and the
second youngest, Florence Matilda
Carter (b.1877).

BORDER CROSSING RECORDS
As Ancestry.com, http://www.
ancestry.com/, has recently made

the Canada to US border crossing
records for 1895 to 1956 available
online, I started there. 

Try as I might, I couldn’t find
any of the five “lost” relatives in
those records. However, on a
broader search, I found three
records for one of the siblings who
supposedly stayed behind:
Florence M. Carter. Two of the
records pertained to the same
crossing, in 1910, the third to a
crossing in 1914.

On 4 November 1910, Florence
arrived in Detroit via the Grand
Trunk Railway Ferry. She listed her
brother William Carter as her near-
est relative in Canada and said she
was going to visit her brother
Frank E. Carter, at 24 Pilcher [or
Pitcher] Street, Detroit. She was 30
years old (she was really 32), sin-
gle, with no occupation and had
never been in the US before. She
was 5 foot, 4 inches in height, had
a fair complexion, brown hair and
blue eyes. She was accompanied
by her maid, May Davis.

In November 1914, Florence
crossed at Port Huron, Michigan,
this time listing her brother John
Carter as her Canadian relative.

She reported that she had lived in
Detroit between 1909 and 1914,
and had gone to Canada in
September 1914. She listed her sis-
ter “Rene” Mertz as her American
relative, address: 544 Bowick,
Detroit. Her age was now 32 (she
was really 36), and she was single,
occupation: “News Reporter”. She
was described as 5 foot, 1 inches
tall (How could she be three inches
shorter than in 1910?), with fair
skin, light brown hair and blue
eyes.

CENSUS RECORDS
As it was now clear that the sib-
lings had likely gone to Detroit in
1909, not 1910, I next checked the
1910 US census for them.

I found Frank E. Carter, his
wife Nellie, and a daughter
Severino (age 19) living in Detroit.
Frank’s occupation is listed as
“Magazine Publisher”. Frank and
Nellie had been married nine
years. It was his first marriage, but
her second. Given her age, the
daughter was either the illegiti-
mate child of Frank, or, more like-
ly, Nellie’s child, whom he had
adopted. Louise E. Bruce, Frank’s

WWhheerree  DDiidd  TThheeyy  GGoo??
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The Detroit border crossing record for Florence M. Carter from 1910. 
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mother-in-law,
and Mary Ryan, a
servant, were also
living with them.
Frank had immi-
grated to the US
in 1885, and was
naturalized by
1910.

Lillian and
her husband
Frank B. Johnson
were also found
living in Detroit.
By this time they
had two sons: F.
Baker (two years
old) and Henry C.
(one year old).
They had been
married five
years. Frank was a
salesman for a
“Piano House”.

I found a pos-
sible match for
Harold and
“Raina” Mertz,
with three-year-
old son Richard, in Mason City,
Michigan. The census recorded
that they had been married four
years, which fits, and had immi-
grated to the US
in 1906.

Turning to the
1920 census, I
found Florence M.
Carter living with
her married sister
“Reine” Mertz
(but no husband
was enumerated)
and Reine’s son
Richard. So this
confirmed that the
“Raina” I found in
1910 was the right
person. Reine was
naturalized in
1918. Florence is
listed as an
“Assistant Editor”
for a “publishing
company”. Next
door were (Baker)
Frank and Lillian
Johnson and their
sons, Baker Frank
Jr. (12) and Henry
Carter (11). They
all lived on

Berwick Avenue (not Bowick, as I
had thought the border crossing
record said), the Johnsons at 542
and the Mertz-Carters at 544.

I could not
find Frank, Nellie
or Severino in
1920.

Searching the
1930 census, I
found Florence,
Reine and Lillian
still living togeth-
er on Berwick
Street. This time
Lillian is listed as
divorced and is a
“Practioner of
Christian
Service”. Richard
was now a news-
paper printer and
Florence was an
editor for a “busi-
ness paper”. I
could not find
Frank, Nellie or
Severino.

Going back to
1900, I found
Frank E. Carter
listed in Detroit as
a border in the

household of Sarah Stephens, a
“capitalist”. He was a journalist at
that time. The census recorded his
arrival year in the US as 1881. I

already knew that
I wouldn’t find
the others in the
US at this time,
since they were
recorded in
Canada in the
census of 1901.

PASSPORT
APPLICATIONS
With the basic
records covered, I
next tried a global
search on
Ancestry.com to
see what else
might turn up.
The result proved
very interesting
and informative,
as I found Frank
E. Carter listed in
the recently digi-
tized American
passport applica-
tions (1795 to
1925).

Francis E.

CCaassee  SSttuuddyy::  TThhee  CCaarrtteerr  FFaammiillyy

The Mertz, Johnson and Carter families in the 1930 US census for Detroit.

Frank E. Carter in the 1910 US census for Detroit.
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Carter applied for a passport in
May 1902, stating that his wife,
Nellie, his daughter, Helen
Severeno Carter, and Mrs. Louise
E. Bruce, would be traveling with
him. Frank provided the informa-
tion that he was born in Kingston
(Ontario), Canada, on 16 December
1864 (this was new, as I had
thought he was born in Picton,
Ontario, where the rest of his sib-
lings were born). He said he’d
immigrated to the US by river
ferry crossing from Windsor,
Ontario on 10 July 1881. He
was naturalized by the circuit
court of Wayne County,
Michigan, on 9 February 1888.
His occupation was “journal-
ist” and he stated that he
planned to be gone less than
six months. He was described
as 5 foot, 9½ inches tall, with a
high forehead, blue eyes,
aquiline nose, medium mouth,
pointed chin, blonde hair and
fair and smooth complexion.

The application also pro-
vided the dates and places of
birth of his traveling compan-
ions: Nellie B. Carter was born
in Lancaster, New York, on 11
December 1864; Helen
Severeno Carter was born 26
August 1890 in Detroit and
Mrs. Louise E. Bruce was born
in Dorset [?], Vermont, on 21
December 1832.

MORE CENSUS RECORDS
With the discovery that
“Severino” was really “Helen
Severino”, I wanted to find
out more about her. I searched
for her name in the census of
1900, but found no matches.
So next I tried searching for
Louise Bruce. I found her liv-
ing with her daughter Nellie
B. Severinsy, who was a
widow with a daughter
named Helen. Aha! They were liv-
ing on Pitcher Street, Detroit. So it
seems that when Nellie and Frank
married, he moved in with Nellie
and her mother and daughter.

Searching for Louise Bruce in
1920, I found her in Detroit again,
but not on Pitcher St. This time,
there were no family members liv-
ing with her. A search in 1930
turned up no sign of Louise (who

was likely deceased by then). So I
still haven’t found a trace of Frank,
Nellie or Helen after 1910.

CITY DIRECTORIES
Finally, I searched for Detroit City
directories. I found that
Ancestry.com has one for 1890. In
that year, Frank E. Carter was list-
ed as rooming at 166 High West.
His occupation was “telegrapher”
for the Evening News.

A 1928 Polk’s Directory is
online at the University of
Michigan’s digital library,
http://quod.lib.umich.edu/cgi/t/text/text
-idx?c=genpub;idno=ACS8107.1928
.001. Both images and transcripts
are available, which is good,
because the images are difficult to
read. Searching the pages for Carter,
I found Florence, but not Frank.
Florence’s entry reads: “Carter,

Florence M sec-treas Contractor Pub
Co and Mich Investors Pub Co
r2578 Bewick av”.

FURTHER RESEARCH
I had done pretty well. I had deter-
mined roughly when each of the
siblings moved to the US (not all
together at one time, as I had origi-
nally thought), where they lived
and a little about their occupations
and families, and I even had phys-

ical descriptions of two of
them from their border cross-
ing and passport records.

Although further searching
for online records that might
help illuminate the lives of
Frank, Florence, Lillian and
Reine proved fruitless, I did
learn that the Burton
Historical Collection at the
Detroit Public Library has
many potentially helpful
records, including: 
• A death index that will help

me determine when each of
them died; 

• A newspaper collection that
might contain published
obituaries; 

• Additional city directories,
to track the family year by
year; 

• Vertical files and local histo-
ries that may include infor-
mation on them as “notable”
Detroit residents. 
The library also provides a

list of local researchers, so I can
hire someone to continue the
research if I can’t visit myself.

In the years since I first
heard the story of the Detroit-
bound Carter siblings, the
Internet has made research
much easier. There are many
records that still are not online
(and probably never will be),
but thanks to the Internet, I

now know a lot more than I did,
and without setting foot in Detroit!

CCaassee  SSttuuddyy::  TThhee  CCaarrtteerr  FFaammiillyy
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Francis E. Carter’s passport application from 1902.

Janice Nickerson is a professional
genealogist based in Toronto,
Canada. Her website is www.upper
canadagenealogy.com

Where did they go.qxd  4/24/2008  12:27 PM  Page 3



101 Best Genealogy Research Tips has
been specifically prepared by author
Janice Nickerson and the Editors of

Internet Genealogy and Family
Chronicle magazines. This book is

packed with over one hundred useful
genealogy research tips, 

here’s a sample:

Tip # 86. Record Your Failures
A common mistake by new (and not-so-new) genealogists
is to only make notes about successful “finds”. Resist this
urge. Take notes about every book, record and database
you search, recording when you did the search, what you
were looking for (what names, dates, information), and

what you did and didn’t find. This way, you’ll save 
yourself from having to reread the same books, and 

re-search the same records and databases, every time you
come back to your genealogy after a break. You’ll also
know when you should go back to them (i.e. when you

have new names to check, or new information that
changes your perspective on what you’re looking for).
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THERE HAS NEVER been a better
time to start researching your
African American ancestors. Not
long ago there were very few easi-
ly accessible resources. Now there
is a vast array of exciting and
informative records, databases
and research projects to spur you
on to a successful search. In this
article, I will highlight just a few
of the resources and projects of
which I am aware. But don’t stop
with these, let them inspire you to
continue the hunt yourself, as not
only are there
other resources
out there, but the
availability of
resources on the
Internet is increas-
ing all the time,
and who knows
what else will be
online by the time
you read this!

FIRST THINGS
FIRST
Before I begin to
discuss the records
that are uniquely
helpful for African
American
research, I should
emphasize that
there are a great
many records that
pertain equally to
all Americans,
whatever their color. You should
start your research with these, as
they will provide the information
you need for a solid foundation. 

First, while not a “record” per
se, you should talk to all your
older family members, to gather
the oral history of your family,
and to collect any documents (or
copies of them) that your relatives
may already have in their posses-
sion. 

Next, look for birth, marriage
and death certificates for your
ancestors who lived in the late
19th and 20th centuries; transcrip-
tions of the gravestone inscrip-
tions in the cemeteries in which

your ancestors were buried;
church registers for their baptism,
marriage and burial ceremonies;
and US census records for the
years 1870, 1880, 1900, 1910, 1920
and 1930. 

If you use Ancestry.com’s spe-
cial filter, at http://landing.ancestry
.com/aahistory/default.aspx, for
searching the US census (1850 to
1930), you can restrict the search
to only people recorded as
“black”, “mulatto”, “negro” or
“colored”. This page is also a

good place to start learning about
other African American records
available through Ancestry.com.

You can also speed up your
search for online transcriptions of
gravestone inscriptions in African
American cemeteries, by going to
http://africanamericancemeteries.com,
which has hundreds of links to
African American cemeteries.
Their search engine will search all
the transcripts at once. 

With the help of these widely
available and generally compre-
hensive records, most African
Americans will be able to trace
their families back to the US Civil
War era. This is where the

research becomes more challeng-
ing, as 90 percent of African
Americans were enslaved prior to
the war, and slaves did not appear
by name in census records, or in
many of the other records we gen-
erally use to trace white
Americans. 

Slave Schedules in the Censuses
of 1860 and 1850
In 1850 and 1860, the American
censuses included special slave
schedules. These schedules

recorded the
names of slave
owners and the
number of slaves
they owned, listed
only by age and
gender. If you
know the name of
your ancestor’s
owner, this will
help you learn
more about the
other slaves in the
household. If you
don’t know the
owner’s name,
you might be able
to identify him
(sometimes her)
using the clues
provided. For
example, say you
know that your
ancestor and his
family lived in a

specific town, and you have the
ages of all the members of the
family. By comparing the ages and
genders of the slaves owned by
each slave owner, you may be able
to find a good match, or narrow
the field down to a few possible
matches. Then you can take the
name(s) of the slave owner, and
search for more evidence, such as
in the court and property records
(wills, inventories, deeds of sale,
etc.).

There are many indexes to
slave schedules available for free
online (try www.afrigeneas.com and
www.accessgenealogy.com/african/),
and Ancestry.com has the com-
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The Slave Coast, along western central Africa, provided many of the 
slaves transported to the Americas.
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plete set, indexed by slave owner.

The Godfrey Memorial Library 
http://www.godfrey.org/
The Godfrey Memorial library has
an extraordinary collection of
American genealogy and biogra-
phy publications and online data-
bases to which members can gain
access from home. Membership
rates run from $35 to $110 per
year, depending on which “pack-
age” of resources you want.

The resources include dig-
ital newspapers, obituary
databases, vital record index-
es, military record indexes,
local history publications and
biographical databases. Some
of the resources are particular-
ly helpful for African
American research, including
digital reproductions of six
major 19th-century African
American newspapers and the
African American
Biographical Database, which
includes profiles and full-text
sketches telling the story of
both famous and not-so-
famous Black Americans’
lives. 

The Freedmen’s Bureau 
One very special and valuable
set of records for African
Americans is the records of
the Freedmen’s Bureau, a gov-
ernmental agency charged
with the responsibility of pro-
viding relief and education to
freed slaves following emanci-
pation, as well as to supervise
abandoned and confiscated
property. The Freedmen’s Bureau
provided tangible assistance, such
as food, clothing and medicine,
administered refugee camps and
hospitals, founded schools, negoti-
ated labor contracts and helped
former slaves appearing in court.

Several websites offer access
to some of the Freedmen’s Bureau
records, but not one is comprehen-
sive, as the records are volumi-
nous. The largest site I’ve found is
the Freedmen’s Bureau Online,
http://freedmensbureau.com/. This
site makes transcripts of records,
such as court cases involving
freedmen, labor contracts, mar-
riage registers, reports of indigent

freedmen and bank records freely
available online. There is no
search engine on the site, so you
have to go to the page for the rele-
vant state, and then search the
page using your browser’s word
search function.

Several excellent descriptions
of the Freedmen’s Bureau records
can be found on the website of the
National Archives and Records
Administration (NARA). This link,
www.archives.gov/publications

/ref-info-papers/108/index.html, will
take you to one of them (and
includes links to the others).

The Freedman’s Bank
Officially named the Freedman’s
Savings and Trust Company, the
Freedman’s Bank was created to
assist newly freed slaves during
and after the Civil War. It was
founded in 1865 and collapsed in
1874 due to fraud and mismanage-
ment. However, during its opera-
tion, the bank created a series of
records that are invaluable to the
genealogist researching black
Americans in the Civil War period.
The bank’s registers of signatures

of depositors collected a wide
range of information, including
depositors’ name, age, place of
birth, residence, occupation,
names of parents, spouse, chil-
dren, brothers and sisters, and in
some cases, the names of former
slave owners.

Ancestry.com has scanned and
indexed the bank depositor
records, so once you find a rele-
vant entry, you can see the actual
register with the handwritten

information and the deposi-
tor’s signature.

If you find your ancestor’s
name among the depositors,
the information in the register
will help you make the jump
to the pre-Civil War era. If the
register also names your
ancestor’s former owner, you
will have the one crucial piece
of information you need to
access a wide variety of earlier
records.

CIVIL WAR RECORDS
As a great many African
Americans served in the US
Civil War, you may wish to
learn more about your ances-
tors’ service. The Civil War
Soldiers & Sailors System, at
www.itd.nps.gov/cwss/, is the
best site I’ve found for identi-
fying a soldier’s service in the
Civil War with its database of
information on about 3.5 mil-
lion soldiers (from both sides
of the conflict) taken from the
General Index Cards in the
Compiled Military Service
Records at NARA.

The information provided in
the database includes the soldier’s
name, his rank at the time of
enlistment, the unit with which he
served, the date he left the service
and his rank at that time. You can
then learn more about the regi-
ment, including the battles in
which its members participated,
and get a list of all the soldiers
who served in the unit.

The site provides instructions
for how to order copies of sol-
diers’ original service and pension
records from NARA. Pension
records are especially helpful, as
they often include a great deal of
personal information about the
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Frederick Douglass, publisher of the North Star
newspaper, which is available through the 

Godfrey Memorial Library. 
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soldier and his experiences during
the war, as well as often including
affidavits by friends and relatives
concerning his service and his
injuries/illnesses. This informa-
tion can sometimes include place
and date of birth, and the names
and residence of parents, siblings,
spouses and children.

Slave Narratives Collection
A very important collection avail-
able through the Library of
Congress’ American Memory
Project, http://memory.loc.gov/ammem
/snhtml/snhome.html, is the slave
narratives collection of transcribed
oral history interviews. Collected
during the 1930s as part of the
Federal Writers’ Project, these oral
histories told by more than 2,300
former slaves provide first-person
accounts of the experiences of
African Americans who had lived
through the slave era. Stories from
residents of 18 states are included
(mostly southern states), with the
largest numbers being from
Arkansas and Texas. 

If you are lucky enough to
have an ancestor as one of the
people interviewed for this proj-
ect, you will find this collection
invaluable. Or perhaps your
ancestor was mentioned in one of
the interviews. If so, you’ll be able
to find out because each of the
transcripts have been scanned
with optical character recognition
technology and the full text of all
the transcripts is searchable by
keyword. Even if none of your
ancestors were interviewed or
mentioned, you can learn a lot
about the times in which they
lived by reading the narratives of
other former slaves, particularly
those who lived near your ances-
tor’s home.

The American Memory Project
also includes digitized audio
recordings of interviews with 23
former slaves, recorded between
1932 and 1975 in nine southern
states. 

Documenting the American
South
http://docsouth.unc.edu/
Another wonderful source of
records pertaining to African
Americans is the online project,

Documenting the American South,
sponsored by the University of
North Carolina. Among other
resources, this site provides a large
number of first-person narratives,

such as letters, memoirs, and
diaries by Southerners (including
slaves); slave narratives from
across North America; Civil War
documents, such as government
publications, personal diaries and

religious pamphlets; and autobi-
ographies of religious figures, ser-
mons and church histories.

When I was researching a
prominent Georgian family, I
found several references to them
in the 1916 publication Centennial
Encyclopedia of the African
Methodist Episcopal Church.

Afro-Louisiana History and
Genealogy, 1719-1820
http://www.ibiblio.org/laslave/index
.html
This amazing project brings
together a wide range of records
pertaining to slaves and slave
owners in Louisiana during the
period 1719-1820. The database
contains more than 100,000
records of individual slaves, with
114 fields for each. Fields include
such information as the type of
document in which the slave is
mentioned, his or her name, birth-
place, age (or age range), gender,
racial designation, involvement in
running away, conspiracies or
revolts, family information, skills,
illnesses, character, African lan-
guage group, locations, sale
prices, information about the
slave’s owners (buyer and seller,
etc.) and much more.

Documents include sales con-
tracts, wills, court cases, marriage
contracts, leases, seizures for debt
or for the criminal activities of the
master, mortgages of slaves and
reports of death, and all clearly
documented voyages that brought
enslaved Africans to Louisiana. 

In every case, detailed infor-
mation is provided about the
source document, in order to
assist the researcher in obtaining a
copy of the original.

Illinois Database of Servitude
and Emancipation Records, 
1722-1863
www.sos.state.il.us/departments
/archives/servant.html
A similar, but smaller (so far) proj-
ect by the Illinois State Archives
involves the extraction of names
of servants, slaves, free persons,
masters, witnesses and related
parties from government records
involving slaves (such as bills of
sale, wills, estate inventories,
emancipation certificates, inden-
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Top: The African American website.
Middle: AfriGeneas.

Bottom: The Freedmen’s Bureau website. 
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tures, lease and mortgage con-
tracts, criminal records, slave reg-
istration records). The database
currently includes approximately
3,400 names. You can search by
county, personal name, sex, race,
document type and date. 

If you find a name that inter-
ests you, you can click on the
record number and see an abstract
of the record. As an example of
what you might find, the abstract
for one of the records provided
the following information: A
“negro” servant named “Fanny”
was indentured to Samuel Harris
in Edwards County on the 18th of
January 1816 for a period of 50
years. She was 35 years old and
pregnant, so she couldn’t travel to
the clerk’s office to sign the inden-
ture contract.

You’ll also find instructions
for ordering copies of the original
documents. The database is con-
tinually under development, with
new records being added regular-
ly, so check back later if you don’t
find what you’re looking for.

CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL
CONTEXT
To learn more about the historical
and cultural context of slavery
and what life was like for slaves in
America, you may want to visit
the following websites:

Digital History
www.digitalhistory.uh.edu/black_
voices/black_voices.cfm
With sections on Slavery in
Historical Perspective, Slavery in
Africa, The Atlantic Slave Trade,
Slavery in Colonial America,
Antebellum Slavery, Slave Family
Life, the Experience of Liberation,
Religion, Resistance, Punishment,
and much more, this site is a must
for understanding your African
American slave ancestors and
their world.

Library of Congress American
Memory Project
http://memory.loc.gov/ammem/index.
html
This gigantic site is worth many
days of exploration. Some of the
interesting collections for African
American history and culture are:
Slave Narratives, 1932-1975; The

African-American Experience in
Ohio, 1850-1920 (these include
personal papers of prominent
individuals, a plantation account
book, ex-slave narratives, and doc-
uments relating to the freeing of
individual slaves); African-
American Sheet Music, 1850-1920;

Zora Neale Hurston’s Plays, 1925-
1944; The Church in the Southern
Black Community, 1780-1925. 

ONLINE GUIDES AND ARTICLES
Finally, to help you learn more
about researching African
American genealogy, especially in
records that are not online (yet),

the following guides and articles
are must reads:

NARA has an excellent guide
to its records at www.archives
.gov/publications/ref-info-papers/108
/index.html, including very
detailed explanations of the
records of the Freedmen’s Bureau,
the Freedman’s Bank and the
Southern Claims Commission (at
least some of these records will
soon be available online through
Ancestry.com), including many
records that are not available
online. 

The Athens Regional Library
System (Georgia) website, at
www.clarke.public.lib.ga.us/path
finders/aagenealogy.html, has a very
detailed guide to African
American genealogy (across the
country), with links to relevant
websites, and bibliographies of
published guides, histories, tran-
scriptions and indexes 

An excellent article about the
use (necessity, really) of legal
records in Antebellum slave
research is provided by David E.
Paterson on the Georgia RootsWeb
site, www.rootsweb.com/~gapike
/slave.htm. While Paterson focuses
specifically on Georgia legal
records, his discussion of their
value and importance, with lots
and lots of examples will help
anyone who wants to make the
crucial jump from post- to pre-
Civil War records.

I hope the potpourri of web-
sites and online records I’ve high-
lighted here has persuaded you to
try researching your African
American ancestors, or to restart
your stalled research. The avail-
able resources are expanding all
the time, with more coming online
as I write these words. And if you
do come across something new or
that I haven’t mentioned here,
please write in to the magazine.
The editors would love to hear
about your discoveries! 
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Janice Nickerson is a professional
genealogist based in Toronto,
Canada. Her website is
www.uppercanadagenealogy.com
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SSpprriinngg  CClleeaanniinngg::
Genealogy Style!

DONNA J. POINTKOUSKI LOOKS AT ONLINE ORGANIZATIONAL TOOLS THAT WON’T COST A PENNY!

ONE OF THE MOST common New
Year’s resolutions made year after
year is to “get organized”. For
many people, those words mean
clearing out the clutter and organ-
izing everything. But what about
making genealogical resolutions?
If you haven't made any, then get-
ting your genealogical information
organized should be at the top of
the list. It can make your research
run more smoothly. In fact, a
recent survey of genealogist-blog-
gers asked for their genealogical
regrets. One of the prevalent
answers was: “I wish I had gotten
organized sooner!”

Don’t put it off any longer —
it’s time to apply some spring
cleaning to your genealogy! The
task is much easier than cleaning
your house or yard thanks to sev-
eral free tools available on the
internet. Here is everything you
need to get your genealogical clut-
ter straightened up. Since not all
sites have the same resources, first
let’s see what types of forms or
programs are available for free.
Then, we’ll take a closer look at
the individual sites.

GENEALOGICAL CHARTS
Long-time researchers emphasize
to beginners the importance of
documenting the information you
find. If you haven’t yet tried using
a genealogy computer program,
then one of the best ways to organ-
ize your family information by
hand is by using forms. Typically,
genealogical information is organ-
ized on two forms: family group
sheets and pedigree charts.

A family group sheet contains
all the vital data for one family,
parents and children. Each
spouse’s parents would also have
a family group sheet, as would
each child for a closer look at their
marriages and families.

Pedigree charts outline a per-
son’s genealogy by showing their

parents, grandparents, great-
grandparents, and so on. Each
generation doubles, so the starting
individual can be on the left of the
form, so the generations move to
the right, or on the bottom, so the
generations balloon upwards simi-
larly to a tree’s branches. Pedigree
charts usually have four to six gen-
erations per page and highlight
each person’s birth, death and
marriage dates.

CENSUS FORMS
Census forms are available to
extract data from the various cen-
sus schedules. These forms are
valuable for several reasons: the
column headings are easier to read
and identify, families can either be
grouped together for comparison,
and the data extracted will be easi-
er to find and read, as compared to
searching for either the printed or
digital copy of the census record.
These forms are available in differ-
ent versions. In addition to the US
federal census records, census
forms also exist for Canadian, Irish
and British schedules.

MANIFEST EXTRACT
FORMS
Similar to the
census forms,
there are forms
available to
organize data
derived from passen-
ger arrival records.
Again, this can be a
time-saver to locate spe-
cific information
without the
need to find
the copy of
the mani-
fest.

RESEARCH
LOGS
Anyone can
create a log to

record research steps or correspon-
dence, but why work so hard
when there are several forms avail-
able to help you already? Research
logs allow you to document exact-
ly what records were searched and
when. This can be a big time-saver
so you do not duplicate your
efforts in searching.
Correspondence logs are designed
to allow you to track important
correspondence relating to your
genealogy, whether it’s requests
for records or inquiries to cousins.

OTHER TYPES OF RECORDS
Extract forms can be developed for
any type of record, and if you uti-
lize one particular type of record
repeatedly, these forms are very
helpful in highlighting the facts.
Some researchers have developed
extract forms for records such as
cemetery records. After you see
samples of what others have done,
you can make your own for your
specialized area of research.

Here are some of the most
popular sites with free forms to
help you organize your family’s
information:
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Ancestories Forms by Miriam
Robbins Midkiff
http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.
ancestry.com/~kidmiff/forms.htm
Miriam’s site has several forms
available that she designed, all
available as PDFs. Forms include
Interview Notes for Cemetery and
Funeral Home Employees,
Online Research Log, U.S.
Research Checklist, Timeline,
and Family History Center
Look Ups.

CensusTools
http://censustools.com
Despite the name, CensusTools
isn’t just for census data. The
site also has free genealogy
spreadsheets for cemetery and
passenger manifests. These
forms are spreadsheets that
allow you to easily view
information from the
records. For census data,
available forms include
the 1790-1930 U.S. Federal
Censuses, 1850-1860 Slave
Schedules, 1850-1880 Mortality
Schedules, State Censuses for
Iowa, Kansas, Massachusetts,
Minnesota, New Jersey, New York,
Rhode Island, and Wisconsin, and
International Censuses for Canada
1851-1901, England 1841-1901,
Ireland 1821-1911 and Scotland
1841-1891. 

In addition to the census
forms, there is a Cemetery Data
spreadsheet that allows users to
enter data either by cemetery
searched or by family. The
Passenger Manifest Data spread-
sheet includes only the “genealogi-
cally significant data fields” since
manifest records differ greatly. But,
you can also enter the data by ship
or for an entire family, even if they
did not arrive together.

The site also has a Research
Log and a Family Group Sheet. All
of the CensusTools spreadsheets
are in MS Excel format for either
PC or MAC, but there are also PDF
versions available.

Ancestry.com’s Charts and Forms
http://www.ancestry.com/trees/charts
/ancchart.aspx
Ancestry.com offers several quality
forms in PDF format, including an
Ancestral Chart and Family Group

Sheet. There are Census Forms
available for all available years
from the US, Canada and the UK.
There are also several forms to
record your research, including a
Research Calendar, Research
Extract, Correspondence Record
and a Source Summary. 

Misbach Enterprises
http://misbach.org/pdfcharts/
Misbach Enterprises offers several
pedigree charts in PDF format. In
addition to the “usual” six-genera-
tion pedigree chart, there are some
unique versions as well. “Just for
Kids” is designed with children in
mind — “small in generations, but
large in size” — and is a good way
to teach young children about
genealogy. The Family Tree Chart
holds six generations in an attrac-
tive tree shape, while the Fan
Chart and Bowtie Chart offer those
designs for the same information.
Another unique form is the Picture
Pedigree Chart that allows users to
display six generations of family
photos on one sheet.

PIP Manifest Extract Forms
http://www.rootsweb.ancestry.
com/~ilpip1gs/Toolbox/manifest_
extract_forms.htm?cj=1&o_xid
=0000584978&o_lid=0000584978
PIP, Pointers in Person, is an
Italian genealogy group. This web-
site contains free manifest extract
forms in both PDF and html for-
mat. Anyone with immigrant
ancestors arriving after 1893 will
find these forms useful to maintain
arrival information. As the

required information evolved and
changed over time, there are four
sets of forms available: 1893-1906,
1907-18, 1919-25 and post 1925.

Ancestors: Charts and Records
http://www.byub.org/ancestors/charts/
This site was intended as a com-
panion to the PBS genealogy show,

Ancestors, which first appeared
in 1997. In addition to some
valuable information about
beginning your research, there
are several forms available in
PDF format to help you get
organized. Forms include
Pedigree Chart and Family
Group Records, a Research Log
and Source Notes.

Judith Haller’s Easy
Genealogy Forms

http://www.io.com/~jhaller
/forms/forms.html
Judith Haller has produced
easy-to-use Pedigree
Charts and Family Group
Sheets for both Windows

and Mac. Forms are available in
various formats, including
Microsoft Word, Microsoft Excel,
Claris Works and WordPerfect. 

Genealogy.com Forms
http://www.genealogy.com/00000023.
html
Genealogy.com offers Census
Abstract forms for all US federal
census records from 1790-1930.
The forms are in PDF format and
are easy to download and use.

Be careful when it comes to spring
cleaning and your genealogy…
you’ll save so much time with
these free resources, you’ll have
more time for all those other reso-
lutions you made! 
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Donna J. Pointkouski is slowly
getting more organized, but she
wishes that she’d had forms like
these when she started her
research. Read more about her
genealogical pursuits at her blog,
What’s Past is Prologue, at
http://pastprologue.wordpress.com. 
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Internet Genealogy is looking for
old military uniform photographs of
your ancestors for a tentative book 
(similar to our best-selling Dating Old
Photographs series).

If you have photos you’d like to 
submit, and they were taken between
the Mexican-American War and
World War One, we want to hear
from you! Please do not send images
from World War Two.

PLEASE NOTE: Please include any 
pertinent data where known: 
subject’s name, regiment, unit, 
conflict, etc. We are unable to
date/identify unknown photos and
these will not be used.

Appeal For 
Old Military Photographs!

We will credit all photos used and send two copies
of the publication to each person who’s photos we
use. Do not send images where the date/conflict
/regiment/army has to be guessed or is unknown.
Please do not send us original photos, as they will
not be returned. Copies made on a color photocopi-
er are okay. If you have access to a scanner, you can
send us a CD/disk (PC format) or attach an image 
file (JPEG, 200 dpi or higher, no more than three
attachments) via e-mail (preferred). 
E-mail photos to militaryphotos@moorshead.com.
Mail photos to Internet Genealogy, PO Box 194,
Niagara Falls, NY 14304 (USA) or Internet Genealogy,
505 Consumers Road, Suite 500, Toronto, ON M2J 4V8
(Canada).  
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YOU REALLY CAN’T be two places at
once unless you subscribe to the
theory of quantum mechanics, but
many of our ancestors managed to
reside in different townships,
counties, states, provinces and
countries even though they never
left their original plot of ground.
They didn’t move; the geographi-
cal boundaries
changed around
them.

While geneal-
ogists are usually
aware on some
level that a coun-
try’s external and
internal geograph-
ical borders have
shifted through-
out history, they
sometimes loathe
the prospect of
delving into histo-
ry to pinpoint
exactly when
these changes
occurred. 

Unfortunately,
there is no alter-
native. Personal
documents, such
as wills and pro-
bate records, are
likely to be found
in the locale
where they were
originally filed,
and government-
generated records,
like census rolls,
complied with the
boundaries in
existence at that
time.

We’re not
talking ancient
history here.
When I first began
tracing my maternal roots, I
sought help from the Czecho-
slovakian embassy. These days, I’d
head for the embassy of the
Slovak Republic since Czecho-
slovakia ceased to exist in 1993.
And good luck to anyone trying to
sort out the countries that once

comprised the Soviet Union or the
Balkans.

When it comes to internal
boundary changes, America is the
poster child for change. Although
the first 13 states can be consid-
ered members of the United States
since 4 July 1776, the next 35 were
admitted at different times over a

125-year period. (Alaska and
Hawaii were added in 1959.) 

Given the sheer volume of
changes that you may encounter
as you go back in time, it’s neces-
sary to know where to find the
right data. 

NATIONAL, STATE AND TERRITORIAL
BORDERS
The continental United States
remained a geographic work in
progress until the early 1900s
when Oklahoma, New Mexico and
Arizona became states. 

Of the current 50 states, 31
were, at one time or another, part

of a US territory.
Territorial records,
including territori-
al census records,
are separate from
state records and
are kept at each
state’s archives or
at the National
Archives in
Washington, DC.

An excellent
online guide for
helping you sort
through early bor-
der changes can
be found at
http://usgenmap
.rootsweb.com,
which features
maps and narra-
tives pertaining to
borders, land
transfers and
acquisitions from
1783 to the pres-
ent. 

Perhaps the
worst case sce-
nario in terms of
boundary changes
is the state of
Virginia. In 1606,
it encompassed
most of what is
now the US and
parts of Canada
and Mexico. By
1784, the mother
colony had been

sliced and diced to the point that
only the land comprising present-
day Virginia, West Virginia and
Kentucky was left. Virginia’s bor-
ders shrunk again in 1792 when
Kentucky was granted statehood.
The federal government took
another chunk in 1789 to help

DONNA MURRAY SHOWS WHAT’S ONLINE FOR BOUNDARY LINE CHANGES

BBoouunnddaarryy  CChhaannggeess  AAffffeecctt  tthhee
DDiirreeccttiioonn  ooff  YYoouurr  RReesseeaarrcchh
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Above: A 1630 map showing Virginia as the light yellow part. The area covers
much of present-day Virginia, West Virginia, North and South Carolina and

beyond. Below: A modern map of Virginia showing its counties. 
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form the District of Columbia, but
gave it back in 1846. In 1863, West
Virginia was born. Four years
later, two more Virginia counties
joined the offspring.

The Virginia case is extreme,
but many areas underwent similar
changes. Thus, trying to locate a
forebear’s records is much like try-
ing to hit a moving target. All
local records (deeds, wills, mar-
riage bonds) generally stayed
within the respective counties
even when those counties became
part of another state. (Virginia

retained some county records for
West Virginia and Kentucky.) State
records (personal property tax,
legislative petitions, land office
records) remained in the parent
state. 

The pertinent state archives is
the best place to gain an under-
standing of its border changes and
how records were dispersed, and
much of that information may be
online. The Library of Virginia, at
www.lva.lib.va.us, is a good exam-
ple.

FLUID COUNTY BOUNDARIES
SCATTER AMERICAN RECORDS
County and township border
changes affected virtually every
early American. If your ancestor
bought a farm in a particular area
of Bedford County, Pennsylvania
in 1794, for instance, the documen-
tation will be at the Bedford
County courthouse.

If, however, this same man
met his maker in 1796, you’ll find
his will and probate records else-
where because Somerset County
was carved from that part of

Bedford County in 1795. 
Just 20 years before, there

were only eight counties in
Pennsylvania. About one-third of
the state — the entire northwest
corner — bore no county designa-
tion at all. Ten years passed before
it was parceled out to neighboring
entities. By 1810, the state’s land-
scape had been divided into 42
counties, according to a Bureau of
Land Records’ map, with another
20 added by 1850. Today, there are
67.

Pennsylvania is hardly
unique. As America’s population
grew and migrated to other areas,
state and county boundaries shift-
ed as well. County boundaries
remained in a state of flux until
the late 1800s, and even later in
the western states. These fluctua-
tions may cause your kin to pop
up somewhere new on census
records and compel you to visit
several courthouses to find the
documents you seek.

Township boundaries also
changed. Occasionally, townships

simply vanished. Youghiogheny
Township in Fayette County,
Pennsylvania boasted 54 families
and 238 inhabitants on the 1850
census. It disappeared in 1855
when a portion of the township
became part of the newly formed
Stewart Township and the remain-
der was absorbed by Springfield
Township.

You’ll be able to find city,
county and township formation
information online at sites hosted
by state archives, historical soci-

www.internet-genealogy.com
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Jackson County in 1800. Jackson County in 1810. Jackson County, effective 
1 March 1816.

Jackson County, effective 
1 March 1818.

Jackson County, effective
11 Jan 1839.

Jackson County, effective 
7 February 1843.

Jackson County, effective
23 March 1850

These images are from the
webpage for Jackson
County, Ohio, at
www.rootsweb.com/~oh
jackso/boundary.htm. 
Reading from top left across
to the one immediately to
the left, the images show the
boundary changes of
Jackson County, Ohio over
five decades, from 1800 to
the boundaries of 1850,
which have remained
unchanged since then. Note
that the Acts of Ohio chang-
ing the boundaries often
occurred on other dates. 
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eties and major universities.
Online entities like RootsWeb
sponsor useful sites, such as
www.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~usgen
web/maps/pa/county/, with a click-
able image map of counties and
townships, and a town and county
locator at http://usgenmap.roots
web.com/cntyxref.htm.

MAPS AND GAZETTEERS
Atlases, land ownership maps and
gazetteers are good tools for deter-
mining where boundaries fell in
various eras and for finding places
that no longer exist. A gazetteer is
a geographic directory
that lists alphabetical-
ly the names of places
in a given area, and
typically contains top-
ographical data, such
as the location of
roads and bodies of
water. 

A gazetteer of
Maryland and
Delaware, found at
the local library, gives
a short history of each
state and an overview
of its leading occupa-
tions and industries.
The majority of the
book is devoted to a
glossary of places that
range from Araby, a
post village in
Frederick County, to a
creek named Zippy.

The 1853 Gazetteer
of the United States
shows the states and
territories in existence
at the time. An alpha-
betical list of counties,
towns and villages
includes side notes,
like the town of
Newton, in Fairfield County,
Connecticut, was incorporated in
1708, and Holden, a town in
Oxford County, Maine, was taken
from Brewer in 1852.

Most large public libraries
have a selection of atlases and
gazetteers in their genealogy or
history sections. Check the library’s
website to see what’s available.

Numerous websites, such as
www.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~usgen
web/maps/, which focuses on states

and counties, and www.rootsweb
.com/~ohjackso/boundary.htm, which
compares old maps with present-
day towns, help researchers get
their bearings. 

You’ll find an 1895 Atlas of the
US at www.livgenmi.com/1895 and a
variety of maps and gazetteers at
www.livgenmi.com/gazmap2.htm,
www.memoriallibrary.com and
www.ldskc.org/genealogy/index.htm.

Atlases are, by far, one of the
most informative resources
because they generally include the
names of property owners. The
1872 atlas of Monroe County, New

York lists G. Ainsworth, P. Lambert
and E. Tottle among the property
owners in the township of Hamlin.

County land ownership maps,
often called plat books or plat
maps, are similar. They concen-
trate on rural areas and date back
to about 1850 in the eastern US. A
typical plat book is published by
county, with a map printed for
each township. Each township
map is further subdivided to indi-
cate who owns property. These

maps may be found online, in a
public library and at the pertinent
county office.

Similar information is avail-
able online for other countries. For
Canada, go to http://digital
.library.mcgill.ca/countyatlas/ and
click on “search”. Visit
www.gazetteer.co.uk/ for the UK,
www.geo.ed.ac.uk/scotgaz/ for
Scotland and http://commons.wiki
media.org/wiki/Atlas_of_Germany for
Germany. Two good sites that
include maps, gazetteers and his-
torical data for other countries are
www.Infoplease.com and www.zum

.de/whkmla/index.html. 

CREATING A TIMELINE
Although the focus of
this article is America,
the same research con-
cepts apply elsewhere
since no country’s
internal or external
boundaries has
remained static.

The simplest
approach for ensuring
that you’re searching
in the correct locale is
to create a geographi-
cal timeline of the
general area that cov-
ers the time period
when your ancestor
lived there. It’s also
beneficial to note how
records were dis-
persed following a
major change, like the
creation of a new state
and significant dates,
such as when vital
records became a
requirement.

Digging deep into
history may seem like
a lot of work, but that

initial research will ultimately
save you a lot of time and effort.

IG

The Fayette County, Pennsylvania Township Map has a clickable
image map and townships.
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Donna Murray, a former 
newspaper reporter, is an expe-
rienced genealogy researcher,
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AS A RESEARCHER, chances are pret-
ty good you have used Google’s
Internet search engine in your
endeavor to locate your long lost
ancestors. You may have also
taken advantage of some of
Google’s other web products,
such as GMail, Google Docs or
even Google Notebook. But the
one application you may have
overlooked that can help you
visualize, document and anno-
tate your research is Google
Maps.

Google Maps not only
assists you in locating an
address or providing you with
a satellite view of an area, but it
also gives you the opportunity
to create custom maps that can
include photos, website links and
video clips. You can even export
your custom map to Google
Earth, which is a neat way to
“tour” the locations you have
setup. Additionally, genealogical
societies or organizations can
create custom maps that high-
light historical sites, cemeteries
and repositories in their area. You
can share these maps publicly,
limit their viewing to your family
and friends or keep them private.

To get started, go to
http://maps.google.com and
sign in; if you don’t already
have a Google account, sim-
ply click on the “Create an
Account Now” link and sign up.
Google accounts are free and pro-
vide you with a Gmail account in
addition to enhanced access to all
of Google’s other applications.

Once you have created your
account and/or signed in to
Google Maps, you will notice two
tabs on the left side of the page,
click the “My Maps” tab. Next,
click the “Create New Map” but-
ton to get started.

By default, under the “Created
By Me” section, there is a map
called Untitled. Below that is a
Featured content section that con-

tains additional tools that can be
added to your map later. The bot-
tom section is where you can
name your custom map and pro-
vide a brief description. Finally,
you can elect to make your map

public, or keep it unlisted. If you
make your map public, the con-
tents of your map can show up in
Google searches, so keep that in
mind as you add information to
your map. You can change these
privacy settings at any time
should you change your mind. 

So, let’s say you want to docu-
ment the places that a particular
family line lived. You can create a
map with the surname as the title
and begin adding location mark-
ers. To mark a location, enter the
address in the text box at the top

of the page. You can enter loca-
tions by street address, town/city
and state, road intersections or
GPS coordinates.

Once your location appears on
the map it will be marked with a
green arrow; you can add a place-
mark and provide details, such as
ancestor names, significant dates
or link to a photo or video. If you
want to clear the green arrow after
you have added your placemark,
click the “Clear Search Results”
link next to the “My Maps” tab.

Adding a placemark is a sim-
ple process. While you are cus-
tomizing your map, you will
notice four icons in the top left
corner of the map frame, next to
the arrows. These icons identify
the tools you use to move the

map, add a placemark, draw a
line or draw a shape. 

To add a placemark, select
the icon that looks like an
upside-down raindrop, then
move your mouse to the loca-
tion on the map. Click your
mouse and the marker will

drop to its location; an informa-
tion window will open where

you can give the placemark a title
and add a description.

This is where the real fun
begins!

The information win-
dow is the place to add

text, link to websites, add a
photo or video, or change the
appearance of the placemark itself.
The default setting in the informa-
tion window is plain text. This is
fine if all you want to do is add
names, birth/marriage/death
dates or other general information.

However, if you want to add
the “bells and whistles” you need
to select the rich text option. To
add a link to a website, simply
add text to the description as
before. Next, highlight the text
you want to use to identify the
link. This could be something as
simple as “For more information,

Create a Custom
Google Map

BILL PULLER SHOWS YOU HOW TO CUSTOMIZE THE ‘NET’S MOST POPULAR SEARCH ENGINE
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click here” or you can simply type
the web address in. Next, high-
light the text, then click on the
chain icon. A pop-up window will
open; enter the full web address
and click “OK”. The link will now
appear as underlined
text. Once you com-
plete adding your
text, click the OK but-
ton on the information
window.

But what about
adding a photo or
video?

In order to add
photos, they must be
stored online or on a
site that can generate
a designated web link
to the photo’s loca-
tion. Many of the
photo sharing sites,
such as Picasa,
http://picasa.google
.com or Flickr,
www.flickr.com, pro-
vide this functionality.
Once you have the
web address of the
photo, click on the
photo icon on the rich
edit toolbar. A pop-up
window will appear
where you add the
full web address of
the photo, the same
way you would when
adding a website link.
Once you are satis-
fied, click OK to save
your changes. 

Adding video
clips is a little different, but not
difficult. To add a video clip to a
placemark, they need to be hosted
on Google Video, http://video.
google.com or YouTube, http://
youtube.com. Both of these sites are
free, and their setup and use are
fairly easy.

Once your video has been
uploaded to either Google Video
or YouTube, copy the information
located in the Embed text box.
Next, select “Edit HTML” in the
information window of your
placemark. Paste the code you
copied from the Embed text box
and click “OK”. Your video should
now be available with your place-
mark.

To change the appearance of
the placemark itself, simply click
on the teardrop icon in the infor-
mation window. You will have
several icons available to truly
customize your map. As you add

placemarks to your map they will
be listed in the left column of the
page. Once you have added all
your placemarks, make sure you
click the “Save” or “Done” button
in the left column of the page to
save your work.

Now that you have created
your custom map, it’s time to
share it with your family, friends
or members of your club or organ-
ization. To send a link to your cus-
tom map via e-mail, click the
“Link to This Page” link just
above the map frame. A pop-up
window will provide you with a
web address or source code that
allows you to embed the map into
a web page.

One downside to the web
address Google generates for your
custom map is that it is quite long.
You may want to use a site, such
as TinyURL, http://tinyurl.com, to
help out. TinyURL takes lengthy

web addresses and
shrinks them down to
a more manageable
length. The site is free
to use and the links
you create never
expire. For example,
you can view a demo
map created with this
article by visiting
http://tinyurl.com/
2y4qa8; the original
web address generat-
ed by Google was 155
characters long!

As you can see,
there are many poten-
tial uses for a custom
Google Maps. Imagine
being able to provide
the route of a histori-
cal walk your organi-
zation is conducting,
complete with photos
and links to addition-
al resources about the
locations you have
annotated. Or, get a
better feel for the
migration patterns of
your ancestors by
marking the locations
of their homes and
dates they lived there.
The uses are only lim-
ited by your imagina-
tion. There’s no deny-

ing that Google Maps is a great
tool for genealogists; why not add
it your research toolkit today?

GGooooggllee  MMaappss

Above: The Google Maps home page. 
Below: TinyURL.com can take your long, unwieldy web address 

and make it into a more manageable URL.
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Bill Puller is a freelance writer,
amateur genealogist and avid 
technology geek. He can be con-
tacted via e-mail at bill.puller@
gmail.com
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ALTHOUGH HISTORICAL MAPS are one
research tool that can provide quite
a bit of information to the family
history researcher, trying to find
them can turn into a wild goose
chase. Fortunately, for those of us
who have ancestors who came
from, or passed through, Ontario
in the late 1800s, the chase has
become easier. This is due to the
efforts of the Canadian County
Atlas Digital Project, composed of
staff and students of McGill
University in Montreal.

Between 1874 and 1881, several
different companies published
Canadian county atlases. Some cov-
ered a single county, others com-
bined several adjacent counties into
a single volume. In addition to the
county maps, each atlas also includ-
ed maps of townships and towns.
Shown on the township maps are
the concessions and lots they were
divided into, each identified with
the name of the landowner and
location of the house.

In Canada counties are divid-
ed into townships, which are usu-
ally rectangular unless one of the
township’s borders happens to be
near a river or lake, in which case
the body of water would serve as
the boundary. Townships are fur-
ther subdivided into concessions,
which are strips of land 11/4 miles
wide. Concessions, which could
run in any direction, were separat-
ed from each other by roads and
were further subdivided into lots
of 200 acres. Concessions and lots
were usually numbered in the
township maps. Concessions were
numbered with Roman numerals
and lots with Arabic numerals.

The staff of the Canadian
County Atlas Digital Project
scanned each of 32 county atlases
(covering 40 Ontario counties) and
all the township and town maps
into high resolution images. They
then entered each of the landown-
ers’ names into a database with
links to the property location on the
township map. All of this is now
available online for anyone to use at
In Search Of Your Canadian Past:

The Canadian County Digital Atlas
Project, http://digital.library.mcgill
.ca/countyatlas/.

Using the maps and database, I
decided to go on a virtual search for
the Crooks family farm. Some of the
information I had collected from
undocumented family legends was

that Robert Crooks (1808-75) and
Jane Turnbull (1813-90) were mar-
ried in Scotland in 1832 and immi-
grated to Canada. They moved sev-
eral times before ending up clearing

land for a farm in Huron County,
Ontario around 1850. Robert and
Jane had 10 children between 1835
and 1855. George, their eldest son,
was born in 1835, married Harriet
Armstrong around 1857, later
became owner of the family farm
and died in 1925. James Walker
Crooks, their third son and my sec-
ond-great-grandfather, was born in
1846, went to Michigan to work on
farms and lumber camps in 1863,
came back in 1869 to marry Esther
Hogg, and moved back to Bay City,
Michigan around 1871, where he
died in 1926.

From the Project’s home page, I
clicked on the “Search” button.
This displayed the main search
page with two main search options
(Maps and People). Since some of
the Crooks are buried in a ceme-
tery near Brussels, which straddles
the boundary of Morris and Grey
Townships in Huron County, I
thought that I had a pretty good
idea where the Crooks family set-
tled. I browsed the maps in the col-
lection by pressing the “Maps” but-
ton on the search page. This dis-
played a map of Ontario with the
counties delineated and numbered.
Also appearing on the page is an
alphabetical listing of the counties
keyed to the numbers on the map.

To display a map of Huron
County, I could have clicked on
Huron County on the map, but
since I didn’t know where Huron
County was located, I selected it
from the alphabetical list. Once the
map of Huron County was dis-
played, I could have clicked on
either Morris or Grey Township to
bring up a map of the desired
township. But since I wasn’t sure
which township my ancestors
lived in, I clicked right below the
map on the words “Click here to
generate index of people” to see a
list of residents named on the map
of the county. For Huron County, a
list of 11,644 names was presented.
Along with the name of the resi-
dent, I could see the county and
township of residence (and if they
lived in a town, the name of the

RICHARD CROOKS GOES IN SEARCH OF THE OLD HOMESTEAD

FFiinnddiinngg  tthhee  FFaammiillyy  FFaarrmm  
wwiitthh  OOnnlliinnee  HHiissttoorriiccaall  MMaappss

Top: In Search Of Your Canadian Past: The
Canadian County Digital Atlas Project

home page. Middle: Search Ontario page. 
Bottom: Search County Huron page. 
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town). In some cases, the occupa-
tion and birthplace are also listed.

I was able to locate only two
Crooks living in Huron County:
William Crooks, in Goderich
Township, and George Crooks, in
Grey Township. Since I was looking
for George Crooks, I clicked on the
hyperlinked word “Go” at the end
of the line displaying George. And
at that point, I felt like I struck gold!
The full record for George Crooks
was displayed. I found that he was
born in Canada, was a farmer and
the farm was settled in 1848. All
facts presented matched informa-
tion I had previously uncovered. I
also learned that he owned 100
acres situated in concession VIII, lot
4. But the real gold was an etching
of the George Crooks farm that was
displayed at the top of the page. I
clicked  to enlarge it and could see
the farmhouse, barn, stable, live-
stock and even a gazebo in the front
yard. And leaving the farm was a
carriage carrying a woman and a
man. Could the man have been my
second-great-grandfather James
Crooks visiting his brother?

Also on the full record page is a
button entitled “Locate On Map”. If
George would have owned more
than one parcel of land in Grey
Township, each would be listed and
a Locate button would be included
for each parcel of land. Clicking on
the button, I was taken to a page
that contained a small map of Grey
Township, with George’s farm (con-
cession VIII, lot 4) outlined in red.
Displayed next to the small town-
ship map is an enlargement of the
highlighted area. Directly below the
enlargement, there are controls to
zoom in and out. These changed the
size of the highlighted area and
allowed me to see the farms sur-
rounding George’s. I could also see
different areas of the map by click-
ing on the small township map.

It certainly looked like I’d
found a likely candidate for the
family farm. Points in favor were:
the owner’s name matches the
family legend, the location of the
farm matches the family legend,
the time frame is right for George
to own the farm because his father,
Robert, died in 1875 and the atlas
was published in 1879, and there
were very few Crooks in Huron

County at the time (and only one
George Crooks). But could the sur-
rounding area help me to confirm
that this was the correct farm?

Family legend says that Robert
Crooks and Jane Turnbull immigrat-
ed to Canada after they were mar-
ried to join other Turnbulls, notably
Jane’s older brother, Robbie, who
was a tailor. According to legend,
Robbie settled on concession IV, lot

16 of Elma Township in Perth
County. In fact, Elma Township,
Perth County shares a common bor-
der with Grey Township, Huron
County. Robbie would have lived
only about nine miles away from
the Crooks farm. In addition to
Robbie Turnbull living relatively
close to the Crooks farm, a James
Turnbull owned a farm on conces-

sion IV, lot 5 of Grey County. (There
is also an etching of this farm
included in the atlas.) This was only
two roads, about 2.5 miles, from the
Crooks farm. Although Jane had a
younger brother named James, I
have no evidence that these two
James Turnbulls are the same per-
son. So, I was able to find some pos-
sibly related Turnbulls living in rel-
atively close proximity to the
Crooks family farm.

But what about Esther Hogg
and her family? James Crooks came
back from Michigan to marry Esther
Hogg who, according to family leg-
end, lived near the Crooks farm.
Examination of the Grey County
map shows that directly across the
street from the James Turnbull farm
were the farms of James Hogg and
W.A. Hogg. The farms were situat-
ed on concession III, lot 5. The map
shows that by 1879, the original 200
acre lot had been subdivided into
two 100 acre lots, but there was only
one house on the lots. Since Esther
Hogg’s father was named James
and her younger brother was
named William, I am fairly certain
that these farms belong to Esther’s
father and brother.

Using the family legend as a
starting point and combining it with
the evidence gleaned from the Grey
county map, I feel confident that I
had located the Crooks family farm.
The only question that remained in
my mind was what does the area
look like today, 130 years later? That
was fairly easy to find out. By
searching for Brussels, Ontario at the
Live Search Maps website,
http://maps.live.com/, I was able to use
satellite images to see that the town
of Brussels is not much larger than it
was on the 1879 map and that there
has been little urban development in
this farming area. Surprisingly, I
could even recognize the boundaries
of the individual lots due to the vari-
ety of crops that had been planted.
And I was able to see that the houses
that were located on the 1879 maps
were still largely in place today.

Not only did the use of histor-
ical maps help me locate the family
farm, but it also helped me to verify
some portions of a family legend
and gave me a clearer picture of the
community that my ancestors
helped to settle and farm.

OOnnlliinnee  HHiissttoorriiccaall  MMaappss

Top: Crooks Full Record results page. 
Middle: George Crooks Farm.

Bottom: George Crooks Locator.
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DO YOU OFTEN find that you don’t
have enough time for genealogy?
Does searching for your ancestors
often keep you burning the mid-
night oil? Ever wish you could
clone yourself so you could avoid
sleep deprivation and stop nod-
ding off at your desk after a
marathon late-night roots-seeking
session?

Well, we’re not quite there yet
on the human cloning, but thanks
to today’s technology and online
innovations, there are some ways
to keep your computer engaged in
genealogical research, even when
you can’t be. 

This article will discuss nine
ways (listed in alphabetical order)
to make the web work for you.

ANCESTRY OBITUARY HUNTERS
http://www.ancestry.com/
If you subscribe to Ancestry.com,
you’re probably familiar with its
Obituary Collection. This database
is a compilation of about nine mil-
lion obituaries published in US
newspapers, collected from vari-
ous online sources. The collection
contains mostly recent obituaries.
Source information is provided
along with links to the full obitu-
ary text. Want to simplify your
search? Create a 24-hour
“Obituary Hunter” by clicking the
link provided, once you are in the
obituary collection. Enter a name
for the Obituary Hunter and either
a last name or location. When fin-
ished, click the “Save” button at

the bottom of the page. Ancestry
will notify you by e-mail of any
new obituaries that match your
search terms. I set up one to notify
me for my surname, and one for
my hometown.

EBAY FAVORITE SEARCHES
http://www.ebay.com
As of this writing, there were 2,830
items listed for sale in the
Genealogy category on eBay.
Whether you are looking for a
missing family Bible, lost family
photographs or old postcards of
your ancestor’s hometown, you
might strike it lucky on this popu-
lar auction site. But, if like me, you
get busy with other tasks during
your day and forget to search eBay
regularly, you can save time by
using the site’s “Favorite Searches”
feature to store your favorite
searches, sellers and categories in
“My eBay”. If you don’t have an
account, you can sign up for one
for free at eBay. (For more informa-
tion on using eBay, see the
October/November 2006 issue of
Internet Genealogy). It’s pretty sim-
ple to set up a Favorite Search. On
the left side of your My eBay page,
click the “Searches” link under
“All Favorites”. Click the “Add
new Search” link next to “My
Favorite Searches” at the top of the
page. Enter your search criteria,
and click the “Search” button. In
the “Name this Search” box, keep
the suggested search name or enter
a new name for your search. Then,

you can tell eBay to automatically
search for items you’re interested
in and notify you by e-mail when
new matching items are listed.
There’s a dropdown list that
enables you to select the length of
time that you’d like to receive the
e-mail notifications. Click the
“Save” button. Your search is now
saved to your “Favorite Searches”
in “My eBay”. 

You can have your search be
as broad, or specific, as you’d like.
Once you’ve designated a favorite
search, you can view all your
favorites at once on the All
Favorites page or you can use the
left column of My eBay to navigate
individual views. You can save up
to 100 searches for easy viewing.
Once you save a Favorite Search,
you can run the search at any time
and edit the search, as needed.

GENEALOGYAGENT
http://www.genealogyagent.com/
This relatively new site will act on
your behalf to monitor websites
and conduct multiple genealogy
site searches for any new informa-
tion on your ancestors. The first
two ancestors are monitored free
for one year. Additional names are
$14.95 US each (payable via
PayPal). GenealogyAgent will
send you an e-mail message once
a month to let you know if its
“agents” detected any changes
related to your ancestors. There
are specific sites the agents will
and will not search. See the
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December/January 2008 issue of
Internet Genealogy for more details
on this search agent. 

GENSMARTS
http://www.gensmarts.com/
This tool is actually interactive
(requiring a bit of guidance from
you), but can be a timesaver
nonetheless. GenSmarts, by
Underwood Innovations, is a pro-
gram that uses artificial intelli-
gence to analyze your existing
genealogy file and produce
research recommendations.
Version 2.0 is the latest available
($24.95 US for download only, or
$29.95 US for a combination
CD/download), and is available
for purchase from the website, or
several other online genealogical
software vendors. A free trial
version, GenSmarts Trial
Version 2.1.1.23 can be
downloaded from the web-
site. (Note to Mac Users:
consult the website for com-
patibility issues and sugges-
tions.) This utility works
with more than a dozen pop-
ular genealogy programs,
including Family Tree Maker
and Personal Ancestral File
(PAF), and reads your data
directly, without requiring a
GEDCOM export. GenSmarts devel-
ops a profile of your ancestors
based on where and when they
lived, and then matches it with an
inventory of known records on
both subscription-based and free
sites to make predictions about
records that may be of help. You
can help GenSmarts help you by
configuring it to know which
databases or sites you have access
to, and by using other customized
filters. For more information on
using GenSmarts, read the
October/November 2007 of
Internet Genealogy.

GOOGLE ALERTS
http://www.google.com/alerts
Genealogists have been
“Googling” their surnames and
ancestral villages for some time
now. But, by using Google Alerts,
you can have this powerful search
engine look for your favorite
terms and alert you to any new
sites. Google Alerts are e-mails

sent automatically to you when
there are new Google results for
your search terms. There are cur-
rently six variations of alerts
offered: News, Web, Blogs,
Comprehensive, Video and
Groups. Simply visit the Google
Alerts home page, enter your
search, the type of alert you’d like,
how often you’d like Google to
check and your e-mail address.
When you’re done, click the
“Create Alert” button. Google will
send you a confirmation e-mail.
You can choose the frequency,
which is how often they check for
new results, not necessarily how
often you’ll receive alerts. You can
create and confirm your Alert on
your Manage Your Alerts page. To
access this page, you’ll need to

sign in to your Google account. If
you don’t yet have an account,
please visit the Google Accounts
home page to create one. If the
results are too broad, then narrow
down your terms. Also, try put-
ting quotes around searches with
multiple keywords, such as
“Essex, Genealogy”. For help, you
can use the Google Cheat Sheet, at
http://www.google.com/intl/en/help
/cheatsheet.html.

MESSAGE BOARDS AND MAILING
LISTS
If you like to scour message
boards in the hopes that there will
be a posting related to your
genealogy, but don’t have the lux-
ury of spending oodles of time
perusing the online forums, you
can have your favorite board noti-
fy you whenever there’s a new
posting. For example, on
Ancestry.com, at http://boards.
ancestry.com, this feature is called
“My Alerts”, previously called

“My Notifications”. You need to
log in with a username and pass-
word. To add a message board
alert, go to the message board you
wish to receive alerts about and
click on the “Add Board to Alerts”
link located in the “Page Tools”
box. If you want to learn more,
you can typically find instructions
in the Help or Frequently Asked
Questions section.

Perhaps you like to subscribe
to mailing lists. One list I sub-
scribe to is the Federation of East
European Family History Societies
(FEEFHS) mailing list, at
http://lists.rootsweb.com/index/other/
Genealogical_Societies/FEEFHS.html.
I receive a notification when
there’s a new posting to that list. A
mailing list allows people to send

an e-mail to one address that
is then copied and sent to all
other subscribers to the lists.
RootsWeb.com hosts many
mailing lists on a variety of
genealogical topics, includ-
ing surnames and locations.
To browse the lists, go to
http://lists.rootsweb.com/index
/index.html and subscribe to
the list of your choice. You
can also subscribe to
ROOTS-L “the original
Internet genealogical mailing

list” (its first messages were post-
ed in 1987). Go to http://www.
rootsweb.com/roots-l/ and follow the
instructions to subscribe. In addi-
tion, be sure to check out John
Fuller’s links to genealogy e-mail
lists, “Genealogy Resources on the
Internet”, at http://www.rootsweb
.com/~jfuller/gen_mail.html.

A “mailing list gateway” can
be set up between a message
board and a mailing list (e.g. sur-
name, locality) that sends a copy
of all messages posted to the
board to the mailing list sub-
scribers. For more details, see
Cyndi’s List under “Mailing
Lists”, at http://www.cyndislist
.com/mailing.htm.

Message boards and mailing
lists provide a way to stay
informed even when you are not
actively conducting online research
on your favorite topics. For addi-
tional tips on using mailing lists,
consult the February/March 2008
issue of Internet Genealogy.

GGeenneeaallooggyy  WWhhiillee  YYoouu  SSlleeeepp!!
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GoogleAlerts can help keep you up to date on 
your genealogy.
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ONLINE FAMILY TREES
By now, most genealogists are
familiar with pedigree database
sites to post their family trees.
Sites, such as RootsWeb’s World
Connect Project, http://worldconnect
.rootsweb.com, have been around
for a while. Users upload their
family trees in GEDCOM. The mil-
lions of names in this project can
then be searched by other genealo-
gists, with the hope of making a
new connection. Another popular
destination for online family trees
is Ancestry.com member trees, at
http://www.ancestry.com, with Web
2.0 — the second generation of
online technology — the
idea of networking has been
taken to new heights
through genealogy network-
ing sites.

RSS FEEDS
Perhaps you like to listen to
the Genealogy Guys
Podcast, at http://genealogy
guys.com/, or find out what
new content has been added
to DearMyrtle, http://www.
dearmyrtle.com/, but rather
than going to these websites
on a regular basis to check for new
content, you can use an Internet
tool called an aggregator.
Aggregators collect updated con-
tent using RSS feeds. RSS stands
for “Rich Site Summary”, “RDF
Site Summary” or “Really Simple
Syndication”, depending on who
you talk to. The technical defini-
tion is not necessary to know how
to use it. RSS works by having the
website author maintain a list of
notifications on their website in a
standard way. This list of notifica-
tions is called an “RSS Feed”.
Recently, this format has increased
in popularity due to the develop-
ment of podcasting, which uses
the RSS format as a means of
delivering audio content to MP3-
playing devices. There are many
RSS aggregators available, and
many come preconfigured with a
list of RSS-feed URLs for popular
websites. A popular aggregator for
blogs is Bloglines, at http://www.
bloglines.com/ (it’s free to set up an
account). You use it to add feeds
from blogs you want to keep track
of. For a list of RSS aggregators

useful on a variety of platforms,
see http://www.newsonfeeds
.com/faq/aggregators, and if you are
a die-hard techie, you may also be
interested in the comparison chart
of such RSS aggregators located at
http://www.aggcompare.com/. Use
these feeds and you won’t have to
worry about missing what’s new
and exciting in the genealogical
world.

SOCIAL NETWORKING SITES
Instead of just viewing static web
pages, genealogists can now inter-
act with other users and even add
to a site’s content through social

networking sites. It used to be
social networking was a teenage
phenomenon made popular by
sites, such as MySpace,
http://www.myspace.com/, and
Facebook, http://www.facebook.com/.
But now, social networking sites
for genealogists are popping up all
over the web. These sites have
been called the “hottest new trend
in online genealogy” and a big
component of the so-called Web
2.0. (For more about Web 2.0, see
the April/May 2007 and the
December/January 2008 issues of
Internet Genealogy.)

You can use these sites to cre-
ate a profile about your research
and work with relatives to build a
family tree complete with pictures
and videos. Some social network-
ing sites for genealogists include:
FamilyLink, http://www.familylink
.com; FindMyPast, http://www.find
mypast.com; Footnote, http://www.
footnote.com; Genes Reunited,
http://www.genesreunited.com;
LivingGenealogy, http://www.living
genealogy.com/; and WeRelate,
http://www.werelate.org. These are

just a few of the sites out there.
For additional sites, and more
information, see the December/
January 2008 issue of Internet
Genealogy. 

You’ll find that features vary
from site to site, but most let you
upload a family tree, and have a
forum for networking with others.
By putting up a profile, you
increase your chances of connect-
ing with that long lost cousin or
research buddy who has that miss-
ing piece of your family history
puzzle.

CONCLUSION
Of course, I’m not implying
that using these sites will
replace solid research ses-
sions or dedicated time
spent searching archives or
online databases to trace
your ancestors. You still
have to conduct active
research with proper source
documentation. However,
just as modern conveniences
in our homes have made life
easier, why not take advan-
tage of those technological
tools that will help you

search faster and smarter? “Living
Life in the Past Lane” is a great
slogan for T-shirts and bumper
stickers, but sometimes we can
take that tag line a bit too serious-
ly. Some genealogists may find
themselves spending more time
with dead relatives than living
family members. The next time
you find yourself under a time-
crunch, let your computer do
some of the work so you can enjoy
a bit more time in the present! 

GGeenneeaallooggyy  WWhhiillee  YYoouu  SSlleeeepp!!
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Lisa A. Alzo, is an author, instruc-
tor, and lecturer. Lisa is the author
of six books and numerous maga-
zine articles and teaches for
Genclass.com. Lisa can be reached
at www.lisaalzo.com, but due to
an overcommitted schedule, regrets
that she is unable to assist with
personal research requests.
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Discovering Family History is the latest
magazine from the publishers of Family
Chronicle and Internet Genealogy. This 
new magazine is for people who are starting
their family history, need a refresher or are 
tackling a new aspect of genealogy.

Discovering Family History articles are
written by some of the most respected
authors in the genealogy field — and many
of them have extensive experience in teach-
ing genealogy courses, either face-to-face or
online. With articles of this caliber, you can
expect excellence — and we deliver!

Even if you have been conducting your
genealogy research for many years, you will
want to take a look at what Discovering
Family History has to offer: as you get
more and more into your family history, you will find you
need to investigate resources that are completely new 
to you. Discovering Family History can help! 

The first issue of Discovering Family History (May/June 2008) is on
newsstands now!

ANNOUNCING

A Guide to Exploring Your Genealogy

Family History
Discovering

Magazine

Visit www.discoveringfamilyhistory.com 
to download a FREE 56-page sample issue!

Yes! I want to subscribe to Discovering Family History
❑ One Year (6 issues) Introductory Rate of $22.50*

Payment: ❑ Check (enclosed) Check No. ______  Make check payable to Discovering Family History

Charge my: ❑ Visa ❑ MasterCard (*Canadian orders add 5% GST or 13% HST as applicable. Quebec residents add 7.5% QST)

Card Number_________________________________________Expiry Date____/_____
Signature: ____________________________________________
Your credit card statement will indicate MAGAZIN 888-326-2476 
USA purchasers note: Credit card transactions are processed through our office in Canada, but will appear on your statement in US funds.

Your Name __________________________________________________________________________________

Address_____________________________________________________________________________________

City_____________________________________ State/Prov. __________ Zip/Postal Code _______________

Telephone Number_______________________________

Please send a  ❑ One Year (6 issues) gift subscription for $22.50* to:

Recipient Name _____________________________________________________ (please also complete section above)

Address_____________________________________________________________________________________

City_________________________________ State/Prov. ________________ Zip/Postal Code_______________

Mail to: Discovering Family History, PO Box 194, Niagara Falls, NY 14304 (From USA)
Discovering Family History, 500-505 Consumers Rd., Toronto, ON M2J 4V8 (From Canada) 

To order with 
your credit card, 

call toll-free 
1-888-326-2476 

IG 14 

*After 30 June 2008 
regular rate of $28 will

apply.

You Pay Only
$3.75 an Issue!

$22.50 
INTRODUCTORY

SPECIAL!

Discovering
Family History Save 37% off

the newsstand
price!

Makes
a Great

Gift
Idea!
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A LOT HAS HAPPENED at World Vital
Records since I last wrote about
them in January 2008. They have
launched a huge new “World
Collection” and changed their
name to better reflect the wide
range of what they now offer.

NAME CHANGE
World Vital Records has changed
its name to FamilyLink.com to 
better reflect the company’s mis-
sion of connecting families to one
another through innovative online
tools. As reported by the company
early in 2008, FamilyLink.com will
continue to operate the WorldVital-

Records.com website, with its
6,000 databases, over one billion
records and more than 25,000 pay-
ing subscribers. 

Additionally, it will also con-
tinue to grow its FamilyLink.com
social network that has attracted
more than 47,000 customers and
has doubled its site traffic already
this year. (See the December/
January 2008 edition of Internet
Genealogy for an article about the
FamilyLink.com social network.) It
will also continue to operate the
We’re Related Facebook applica-
tion, the top social application for
families out of nearly 14,000
Facebook applications. We’re
Related has more than two million
users and is growing at a rate of
6,000 users a day. More
FamilyLink.com Facebook applica-

tions are in the works. 

WORLD COLLECTION LAUNCHED
In mid-February, WorldVital-
Records.com released the World
Collection, an online genealogy
database containing more than 1.5
billion names from 35 countries.
This collection includes significant
acquisitions from countries such as
England, Canada, Australia,
France, Ireland, Scotland and
Hungary. 

More than 20 companies have
partnered with WorldVital-
Records.com to make this new col-
lection possible. They include

FindMyPast.com, Genealogical
Publishing Company, Archive CD
Books Australia, British Origins,
Immigrant Ships Transcribers
Guild, Archive CD Books Canada,
Eneclann, Quintin Publications,
Gould Genealogy, Familias
Argentinas, Godfrey Memorial
Library and Moravian Heritage
Society.

At the time of writing, an
annual subscription costs $149.95
US (US and World Collection),
$49.95 US for US Collection.

To create the World Collection,
a lot of new content has been
added and some already existing
data sets have been relocated to
the World Collection. For example,
many of the Quinton Publications’
databases cover French-Canadian
genealogy and history and these

items have now been moved to the
World Collection. So, for a sub-
scriber who had access to these via
one’s original subscription, what
now? I asked Whitney Ransom,
Corporate Communications
Director for the Family Link
Corporation what this means for
“current subscribers”. Would they
lose access to these databases? The
short answer is “No”. Essentially,
as long as a person maintains one’s
subscription (i.e., does not let it
lapse), any database that a sub-
scriber had access to prior to the
introduction of the World
Collection, they will continue to

have access to these same databas-
es, as well as any added “free”
databases and new databases
added to the basic subscription
service. In order to gain access to
any of the new content in the
World Collection, current sub-
scribers would need to upgrade
their subscriptions to include the
World Collection.

I also found that the naviga-
tion, structure and features of the
website have not changed. You still
search and access the data the
same way as before.

With those important ques-
tions answered, let’s take a look at
what you can currently access in
the new World Collection and also
talk about some of what the future
holds for this collection.

A New and Improved
World Vital Records

DIANE L. RICHARD LOOKS AT THE RECENT CHANGES TO THIS VITAL ONLINE RESOURCE
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NOW IN THE WORLD COLLECTION
A lot of new data from many dif-
ferent sources and representing
many different countries is part of
the inaugural launch of the World
Collection. Let’s focus on a few of
the larger and also a few of the
unique additions we discovered.
These are not listed in any particu-
lar order, either by size or geo-
graphically. Remember that many
of these are a “work in progress”,
which means that all of these are
not necessarily 100 percent
online at press time. If not,
they will be online shortly!

Genealogical Publishing
Company (GPC)
http://www.genealogical.
com
The collection from
Genealogical.com consists
of a series of books and
some CDs, most of which
cover immigrants to
America during its earliest
days. Most of the books
focus on settlers who came
from the British Isles,
although there is also con-
tent regarding German,
Swiss, Huguenot (French),
Irish and other settlers.
This portion of the collec-
tion will represent about
600 of the approximately
2,000 titles currently avail-
able at GPC. 

UK BMD and Census
Records
The addition of these
records helps make the
World Collection compara-
ble to Ancestry’s World
Collection. The records
available will include a
myriad of birth, marriage and
death records and census records.
Currently, the 1851, 1861, 1881 and
1891 censuses are available. By
early 2009, the remaining available
censuses — 1841 and 1871 — will
also be available. These are both
important records for researching
British ancestors. 

Archive CD Books Australia
http://www.archivecdbooks.com.au/
This collection currently includes
343 titles, with the possibility of

adding more titles in the future.
The majority of these books are
comprised of directories, police
and government gazettes, and
almanacs. Additionally, there are
newspaper abstracts which span
several time periods and multiple
locations. Some of the databases
cover New Zealand as well.

It was clear at the latest NGS
conference, when I actually spent
quite a bit of time talking with
people about this project (after

having been a long-term propo-
nent and client of the recently
closed Archive CD Books UK proj-
ect), that this was an excellent col-
lection of material for anyone
researching ancestors in Australia!

Archive CD Books Canada
http://www.archivecdbooks.ca/acdb
canada.html
These titles are primarily histories
about cities, provinces and regions.
These histories also include names
of historically significant or well-

known figures and biographical
sketches about many individuals.
Also included are city directories.

Germans and Hungarians 1828
Land Census
This collection is an English tran-
scription of a census that was
taken of men who owned land in
Hungary in 1828. The census was
originally written in Latin, and
was translated and transcribed by
Martha Remer Connor and her late

husband. It includes data
from 25 counties, includ-
ing several counties that
were at the time, located
in Hungary but now are
located in Germany or
Romania. As with most
censuses of the time, only
the head of household is
listed and there are about
300,000 names.

Immigrant Ships
Transcribers Guild
http://www.immigrant
ships.net
This is a series of 9,000
plus ship lists from all
over the world. The cover-
age includes more than 30
different countries, though
some countries have more
coverage than others;
England and France have
records of several hundred
voyages, whereas Japan,
Trinidad, Barbados, India,
Sierra Leone, etc. may
have only a few. Now,
instead of searching on
your immigrant’s passen-
ger record in isolation
from other records, you
can not only find them on
a passenger list, you can

possibly learn about them via cen-
sus, vital records, directories or
other sources.

International Newspapers
This collection includes hundreds
of newspapers from several coun-
tries. They are completely indexed
and include images. They include:
Three newspapers from England,
1886-1964; two newspapers from
Australia, 1840-1902, 1977-79; one
newspaper from the Bahamas,
1849-1961; one newspaper from

WWoorrllddVViittaallRReeccoorrddss..ccoomm

Above: The Immigrant Ships Transcribers Guild features more
than 9,000 searchable ship lists.

Below: Archive CD Books Canada is a good resource for the
Canadian genealogist and features histories of cities,

provinces and regions.
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Belgium, 1944-45, one newspaper
from Ireland, 1859-2000; 74 news-
papers from Canada, 1752-2003;
and more will be coming.

Additionally, the collection
includes the Ryerson Index,
http://www.ryersonindex.org, an
index to death notices appearing in
current Australian newspapers. It
also includes some funeral notices,
probate notices and 
obituaries. 

Moravian Records 
This database consists of about
8,000 names. It is from the
Moravian Heritage Society and
contains a list of known emigrants
from the region of
Moravia in the Czech
Republic. 

Eneclann
Do you have Irish
ancestors? If yes,
check out these data-
bases for a complete
index of wills and
other probate materi-
als from the Public
Record Office of
Ireland (PROI). This
site already has a 1909
index to Irish wills
and this index reflects
only materials in the
Public Records Office
in Dublin that sur-
vived the 1922 bomb-
ing. The index was
made before the 1922
bombing. It includes names and
addresses of 60,000 heads of
household. The index is accompa-
nied by scanned images of the
original 1847 Ordnance Survey
Town Plans, to help users identify
specific addresses. Plus, there is an
index to the 1851 Dublin census. 

British Origins 
http://www.britishorigins.com
This website has been busy
expanding its offerings; this has
greatly benefited those researching
British ancestry. Combined with
the UK birth, marriage and death
records and census records men-
tioned previously, the World
Collection now makes it easier to
one-stop-shop for your British
ancestor research. Some of the

included databases are: 
� Militia Attestations Index —
Nearly 100,000 records. These are
indexes to the attestation docu-
ments completed by applicants to
join militia regiments in England,
Ireland and Scotland in the late
19th and early 20th centuries. 
� British and Irish Passenger
Lists, 1890 — Approximately
200,000 records. These are full
transcripts of passenger lists for
passengers sailing from British and
Irish ports to North America in
1890. Work has started on the 1891
lists, which will become available
later this year. From 1892, the Ellis
Island records contain details of

passenger landings in the USA. 
These four indexes go online

June 2008.
� York Medieval Probate Index —
More than 10,000 wills indexed, for
the period 1267-1500. 
� York Peculiars Probate Index —
More than 25,000 wills indexed, for
the period 1383-1883. 
� Prerogative & Exchequer Court
of York Probate Index —
Approximately 25,000 records will
be available initially, for the period
1842-1858. 
� Teachers’ Registrations —
100,000 registrations, primarily for
England, from the 1890s to the
mid-20th century. 

Mission 2000 
A searchable database of Spanish

mission records of the Pimería Alta
(southern Arizona and northern
Sonora, Mexico) containing bap-
tisms, marriages and burials from
the late 17th century to the mid-
19th century. Names of persons
associated with each event (i.e.,
priest, baptized, parents, god-
parents, husband, wife, witnesses,
deceased, etc.) and personal infor-
mation about each person are
included. Many ethnicities are rep-
resented. 

Familias-Argentinas
A large database that was added
last year and is now part of this
collection. The largest online

genealogy tree data-
base of Argentinean
people includes more
than 130,000 entries
which are all connect-
ed to one another and
not a loose list of indi-
viduals from different
sources. This database
is considered to be the
largest genealogical
database in South
America.

CURRENTLY AVAILABLE
INTERNATIONAL
DATABASES
If you are looking for
an easy way to get an
idea of what is cur-
rently available for
International
Databases, browse this

page, http://www.worldvitalrecords
.com/international-databases.aspx.
This page lists the currently avail-
able databases arranged by topic.
Just scanning the list, besides the
obvious databases mentioned
above, I came across some intrigu-
ing entries:
� Directory of Scots Banished to
the American Plantations, 1650-
1775
� Irish Emigration to New
England Through the Port of Saint
John New Brunswick, Canada,
1841-49
� Families Directly Descended
from All the Royal Families in
Europe, 495-1932 and Mayflower
Descendants
� South Australian Directory 1924
(Sands & McDougall) 

WWoorrllddVViittaallRReeccoorrddss..ccoomm

An example of a page from the South Australian Directory 1924 
(Sands & McDougall).
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� Lovell’s Canadian Dominion
Directory, 1871, Ontario
� Lippincott’s Gazetteer of the
World, 1895 

Want to search on just the
records associated with a particu-
lar country? If you are only look-
ing for a particular name in the
records of a certain country, check
out the Nationality Genealogy
Community Pages. For each listed
nationality, you may find a list of
some references/databases, there
will be a search box which only
searches the records pertaining to
that country and a brief overview
of its history and other interesting
facts.

The result of all of the above is
a fairly diverse geographic collec-
tion with some nice depth as part
of the inaugural data set for the
World Collection. Some key collab-
orations with good partners and
some hard work has resulted in a
pretty impressive array of databas-
es, with even more to come!

FUTURE PLANS FOR WORLD VITAL
RECORDS
What you see is not what you get
for the new World Collection or for
the parent World Vital Records
Collection. According to Yvette
Arts, the Director of Content
Acquisition, subscribers can look
forward to these upcoming addi-
tions to the collections:
� A portion of the 10,000 genealo-
gy books on Australian genealogy

currently on the Gould Genealogy
website, http://www.gould.com.au,
will be made available
� A new alliance with Archive CD
Books USA, http://www.archive
cdbooksusa.com, will make several
of their offerings available
� Only 100 of the possible 700
publications from Simmons
Historical Publications, http://www.
simmonshistorical.com, focusing on
Western Kentucky, Tennessee and
North Carolina, are currently
available; look for more to be
added

Additionally, efforts are under-
way to bring subscribers records
from Russia, Czechoslovakia,
Switzerland, Germany, France,
Portugal, the Scandinavian coun-
tries and other countries.

Also, the international news-
paper collection will be expanded
to include a large number of news-
papers representing many states in
Mexico, as well as other South
American countries and news-
papers for every Canadian
province. 

CONCLUSION
By combining social networking
systems with a strong foundation
of data, FamilyLink.com is making
it easier than ever for individuals
to both gain access to important
original/source documentation for
their ancestors and connect to oth-
ers researching overlapping
branches of their family tree.

Through key partnerships and by
working with good partners, the
World Collection has been able to
amass an impressive array of data-
bases, one or more of which will
benefit anyone’s research!

I can say that there are several
elements of the new World
Collection that I have hesitated to
subscribe to individually to aid in
my own family research (never
mind any research I do for clients),
and for which there is definitely
more appeal to gain access to them
as a bundle, via WorldVital-
Records.com. Each subscription
service on its own was just a bit
too narrow for my limited needs,
or had enough overlap with other
databases that I currently subscribe
to, to make it hard to justify indi-
vidual subscriptions. That is now a
moot point as I can “one-stop
shop” at WorldVitalRecords.com.

IG
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DAVID A. NORRIS TAKES A LOOK AT WHAT’S AVAILABLE ONLINE FOR 

THE RELIGIOUS SOCIETY of Friends,
or Quakers as they are more com-
monly known, appeared in
England after their founder
George Fox began preaching in
1647. The new sect reached North
America when missionaries Ann
Austin and Mary Fisher came to
Boston from Barbados in 1656. 
The term “Quaker” was at first a
pejorative label slapped on the
movement by their opponents,
satirizing them for trembling or
“quaking” at the power of God. 

Although small in numbers,
the Quakers were influential in
founding prosperous communities
and promoting
many progressive
causes, such as the
abolition of slavery
and increasing the
legal rights of
women. 

Friends met in
private homes
before their church-
es, called meeting
houses, were built.
They felt that all
people had a direct
connection with God
and that it was
unnecessary to have
clergymen as inter-
mediaries. Local
congregations were
called “monthly
meetings”, and were
loosely banded
together in regional
associations called
Quarterly Meetings,
which in turn were
united in larger Yearly Meetings. 

Each Yearly Meeting was inde-
pendent but maintained commu-
nications with the others. Early
Yearly Meetings were founded in
Pennsylvania, New York,
Maryland, Virginia and North
Carolina, in addition to the one in
London. After the Revolution, oth-
ers were established in the new
states and territories of the
expanding country and in Canada. 

Quakers chose plain clothing,
avoiding bright colors or decora-
tive lace as a way of rejecting

worldly selfishness and vanity.
Their belief in equality made them
treat everyone, from any station in
life, with a polite respect. While
this was a benefit to Indians and
African-American slaves, it ran-
kled aristocrats and officials who
didn’t receive the extra deference
that they felt were entitled to. 

Friends were forbidden to
swear an oath; their beliefs
allowed them to “affirm” that
something was the truth. Quaker
Herbert Hoover was “affirmed”
rather than “sworn in” as presi-
dent of the US during his inau-
guration in 1929. 

Friends’ meeting houses were
as plain as their clothing. Lacking
stained glass, steeples or indeed,
any extra adornment at all, they
resembled ordinary houses as
much or more than they did
churches. Even the names of
Quaker meetings were matter-of-
fact. Rather than naming the
assembly after biblical figures or
places such as St. Paul’s, Antioch
or Shiloh, they usually bore plain
place names such as “South River
Meeting” or “Cane Creek
Meeting”. 

Their services were markedly
austere, with no music or ser-
mons. Worship services had long
periods of silence for prayer and
reflection, broken when any mem-
ber of the congregation felt called
upon to speak out with prayers or
other statements. 

Early Quakers faced persecu-
tion, even extending to the hang-

ing in Boston of four
who returned to

Massachusetts
after being
banished.
But, a group
of Friends
settled in the

more remote
area of Cape

Cod in
Massachusetts, and

another group found
a welcome tolerance
in Rhode Island.
Others spread into
the Dutch posses-
sion of New
Netherland (New
York), or headed
into the Southern
colonies by the
1650s. 

Founder George
Fox came to America
in 1671 and stayed
for two years, meet-
ing followers (and
converting out-
siders) from New
York and Rhode
Island to as far south
as North Carolina.
Fox encouraged emi-

gration from England to escape
repression.

A convert named William
Penn, the son of English admiral
Sir William Penn (who captured
Jamaica for the English in 1655)
founded the most important
Quaker settlement, the colony of
Pennsylvania in 1681. The “holy
experiment” of Pennsylvania
offered religious freedom to
Quakers and other dissenters. So
established did the Friends
become there, that Pennsylvania is
known as “the Quaker State”.

FFiinnddiinngg  QQuuaakkeerr AAnncceessttoorrss

Above: A fanciful view of the landing of William Penn and the founding 
of Pennsylvania as a colony where English Quakers could worship as
they saw fit. Inset: George Fox, the English preacher and missionary 

who founded the Society of Friends.
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Many early Quakers also
found homes in sparsely settled
North Carolina. The colony had a
weak government and the power
of the Anglican Church was mini-
mal, so residents were left to wor-
ship as they pleased. For some
time, North Carolina’s only reli-
gious services were those of the
Quakers, and there were more
Quakers than Anglicans. John
Archdale, governor of Carolina
from 1694 to 1696, was a Quaker.
Some of the Massachusetts
Quakers moved to North Carolina
on the eve of the Revolutionary
War. 

As the Quakers de-empha-
sized missionary work in the
1700s, and were proving to be
good neighbors,
they aroused less
opposition. They
still faced legal trou-
bles for objecting to
payment of manda-
tory Church of
England tithes. The
Quakers’ strong
pacifist beliefs
moved them to
reject compulsory
militia service and
war taxes. During
the US Civil War,
fake cannons built of
wood (to fool enemy
troops into believing
a position was
stronger than it was)
were known as
“Quaker guns”.

Quakers also
opposed slavery,
since the days when
George Fox first
encountered slaves
in Barbados. Some
worked to help slaves escape in
the “Underground Railroad”. 

Many Quakers left the South
in the decades after the
Revolution, moving on to the free
states of the Midwest. 

Women played a larger role
than was the case with other
denominations. During worship
services, any woman, just as any
man, could speak out and address
the assembly if they felt the need.
Separate meetings for women
were established by Fox and con-

tinued into the 19th century. The
women’s meetings gave women
great authority within the church,
and approval of female commit-
tees was necessary to obtain per-
mission to marry. Women who
were raised as Quakers, such as
Lucretia Mott and Susan B.
Anthony, went on to lead the push
for women’s suffrage in the 19th-
century US.

Over time, doctrinal disputes
caused new branches to break off
from the Society of Friends. The
Revolution caused controversy as
some members, such as
Continental army leader
Nathaniel Greene, were dis-
owned for taking up arms
against the British. The “Free

Quakers” were formed in
Philadelphia by members who
were expelled for supporting the
Revolution; the dissenting mem-
bers believed that war was justifi-
able in that particular case. This
congregation included Betsy Ross,
who popular tradition associates
as the seamstress who made the
first American flag. Other
Quakers, who were moved to take
up arms against the British, left
the church and never returned. 

Other splits occurred during

the 19th century, when differences
arose over such issues as mission-
ary work, and congregations
choosing “programmed worship”
(services guided by clergy) versus
the older “unprogrammed” servic-
es. The men’s and women’s meet-
ings were combined, though. In
older meeting houses, partitions
separating males and females

were removed. 
By the end of

the 1800s, most
Friends had
gradually
altered their
style of
clothing and
speech so
that they
outwardly

conformed
more closely

with their
neighbors. The

Friends World
Committee for
Consultation esti-
mates that there are
almost 87,000
Quakers in the US
today. 

Famous Quakers
include Dolley
Madison, Daniel
Boone, Annie
Oakley, pioneer
newsman Edward R.
Murrow, Joseph
Lister (the British
physician who
developed aseptic
surgery) and two US
presidents, Herbert
Hoover and Richard
Nixon. 

PUBLISHED RECORDS
The independence of Quaker con-
gregations meant that most
records were often kept on the
level of the local Monthly
Meeting. Other records exist for
the Quarterly and Yearly Meetings
as well. Luckily for the genealo-
gist, Quaker congregations care-
fully documented their meetings,
and numerous published records
dating back to the 17th century are
available. 

One’s ancestors are most like-
ly to be found in minute books

QQuuaakkeerrss
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Above: Intended as satire, this early print shows a woman speaking 
during a Quaker meeting. The idea of a woman speaking in church was
considered ridiculous by many in the 18th century. Quaker women were

active in the anti-slavery and the women’s suffrage movements. 
Inset: William Penn, founder of the Quaker colony of Pennsylvania, is
shown wearing the “plain clothing” preferred by the Society of Friends.
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kept by the Monthly Meetings,
which listed births, marriages and
deaths. Meetings rarely compiled
lists of membership, but noted the
names of members joining or leav-
ing the meeting. 

Monthly meeting clerks
recorded many entries dealing
with infractions of “the
Discipline” or church code of con-
duct. Proceedings might begin
with a complaint, which was writ-
ten down in the minutes. Offenses
included marrying in defiance of
church rules; performing military
service; breaking an apprentice
agreement; committing an act of
violence; excessive drinking
(Quakers permitted the use of
alcohol, but stressed moderation);
or even angrily losing one’s tem-
per.

If the complaint was found to
be justified, the accused could be
disowned or “read
out” of the church. In
1835, one Robert
Terrell of the Cedar
Creek Monthly
Meeting in Hanover
County, Virginia, had
“deviated so far from
the testimonies which
we have deemed it
our duty to bear as to
engage in overseeing
slaves”. Terrell told
the committee investi-
gating the charge not
only that he didn’t
intend “to cease the
practice”, but also told
them that “he is in the
habit of mustering”
(that is, attending
militia musters). For
these transgressions, Terrell was
disowned “until he makes satis-
faction”. 

Disownments were frequent,
but so were reinstatements. The
accused would be readmitted
upon writing a letter of confession
or condemnation (of their sins).
One such letter of 1789 read in
part, “I have at some time past
acted in a disorderly manner in
fighting… a practice I do utterly
condemn myself in so doing, and
if Friends will pass by my conduct
in that respect, am in hope
through Divine assistance never to

do the like again.”
Quakers moving to another

colony or state obtained a “certifi-
cate of removal”, which they pre-
sented to the clerk at their new
meeting house. These certificates
are, of course, useful in tracking
ancestors’ movements. Certificates
of removal were granted only if
the member’s business affairs and
debts were in
order. 

MARRIAGE
RECORDS
Early Quakers
tended to
marry within
the faith. A tra-
ditional mar-
riage required
the couple to
apply at the
men’s and

women’s meetings to seek
approval, or “liberty to marry”, a
process requiring several visits
with the possibility of recording
names and dates in the registers
for posterity. For example, John
Collins and Mary Tooke of Surry
County, Virginia “propounded
their marriage” on 11 April 1682;
“did pubblish their marriage
againe” on August 12, and were
actually married on December 14
of that year. The names of witness-
es to the marriage were also some-
times written down, and the place
of the ceremony, which was often

held in a private home. 
A marriage between two

Quakers who did not go through
the elaborate betrothal process
was recorded as a “marriage con-
trary to discipline”; one between a
Quaker and a non-Quaker was a
“marriage out of unity”. The latter,
sometimes noted as a marriage by
“a hireling priest”, could result in

the offender being
“read out”. Eventually
marriage to non-
Quakers was permit-

ted if a Friends ceremony was per-
formed. 

QUAKERS AND THE LAW
Many Friends ran afoul of colonial
county courts. They were quite
open about attending their meet-
ings in colonies where their faith
was prohibited. The names of men
and women appear in county
court minutes for attending
Quaker meetings, missing
Anglican services or failing to
have a child baptized. For
instance, on 14 February 1664, the
Norfolk County Court in Virginia

QQuuaakkeerrss  
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Left: Quaker meeting
houses, like this one in
Schenectady, New York,
lacked steeples, stained
glass and other adorn-
ments, making them
resemble ordinary hous-
es more than churches.
Above: The interior of a
19th-century Friends
Meeting House in
Nantucket,
Massachusetts. 
(Both images from Library of
Congress.)
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summoned 22 people for attend-
ing a Quaker meeting at the home
of one Richard Russell. Two
Friends were fined 500 pounds of
tobacco (tobacco was often used as
currency in Virginia, as cash was
rare), it being their second offense.
The others were fined 200 pounds
of tobacco, except for Russell him-
self, who had to pay 5,000 pounds
of tobacco for letting his home be
used for the meeting. On occasion,
Quakers paid fines to the court as
well as rewards to the
informant.

Early anti-Quaker
laws were very strict.
In 1658, Massachu-
setts citizens were
“subject to the censure
of the court” if they so
much as saw a
Quaker and did not
report this to a consta-
ble! Entertaining a
Quaker “if but a quar-
ter of an hour” result-
ed in a five-pound
fine. A John Porter
was expelled from the
Virginia House of
Burgesses in 1663 for
being “too loving to
Quakers”. England’s
Act of Tolerance in
1689 ended the most
extreme persecutions,
but Quakers, like
other dissenters, were still exclud-
ed from holding government
offices.

Other outside records pertain-
ing to Friends arose over their
opposition to military service.
They may have been cited for
missing militia musters, or oppos-
ing compulsory military service.
On occasion, some Quaker men
worked in hospitals or took non-
combatant jobs such as teamsters
during the Civil War. 

SOURCES
Among the most important pub-
lished resources is William Wade
Hinshaw’s six-volume
Encyclopedia of American Quaker
Genealogy, which is available in
some libraries. Records of many
monthly, quarterly and yearly
meetings have been published and
are widely available in libraries. 

An interesting aspect to
Friends records is their system of
using “Quaker dates”. They
eschewed the worldly names of
the weekdays and the months,
finding their pagan origins (such
as July for Julius Caesar or
Thursday for the Germanic god
Thor) distasteful. Therefore, they
wrote dates using numbers. The
date of 6 March 1796, for example,
could have been written 3/6/1796,
or “the 6th day of the 3rd month,

called March 1796”. 
Before 1752, when England

adopted the current Gregorian
Calendar, the year began on
March 25. Therefore, February was
the “twelfth month”, and March
the “first month”. 

QUAKER RECORDS ONLINE
Quaker ancestry is much more
common than their relatively
small numbers indicate. “Reading
out” members for outside mar-
riages or taking up arms in war
cost the Friends much of their
enrollment, and scattered Quaker
ancestry into countless non-
Quaker families. Fortunately for
the genealogist, their records are
well represented on the Internet. 

Meeting minutes may be
reprinted verbatim, or sharply
abbreviated in abstracts. Most
books include a list of common

abbreviations (such as “dis” for
“disowned”) with explanations of
common notations. 

Ancestry.com has records of
some monthly meetings,
Hinshaw’s Encyclopedia of
American Quaker Genealogy and
other resources. The Family
History Library at Family-
Search.org has a great many
Quaker sources in its electronic
catalog at http://www.familysearch
.org/Eng/Library/FHLC/frameset_fhlc

.asp. 
Friendly Research,

from the Mary L.
Cook Public Library
in Waynesville, Ohio,
at http://www.mlcook.lib
.oh.us/Ohioana/friendly_
researchan_intro.htm,
offers extensive digital
resources and guid-
ance. 

The Quaker
Information Center,
http://www.quakerinfo
.org/history, also offers
a list of Quaker
genealogical resources
at http://www.quaker
info.org/resources
/genealogy.html. You
can also find informa-
tion at the Quaker
Corner, online since
1995, at http://www
.rootsweb.com/~quakers/,

and Cyndi’s List at http://www
.cyndislist.com/quaker.htm. Google
Book Search, http://books.google
.com/, offers many books on the
topic. 

QQuuaakkeerrss  
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Because of the Quakers’ well-known pacifism, fake wooden guns
designed to deceive enemy observers were called “Quaker guns” 

during the US Civil War. 

IG

A regular contributor to
Internet Genealogy and
Family Chronicle, author
David A. Norris has Quaker
ancestry on both sides of his
family. 
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IN THE WORLD OF genealogy, obitu-
aries serve a greater purpose than
as a memoriam to the deceased.
These thumbnail sketches of a
person’s life provide solid clues
for expanding your research. 

The obvious place to start is
by determining which newspaper
published the obituary. The
deceased’s hometown newspaper
is your best bet, of course, but it’s
wise to take a gander at the main
paper in the town where the per-
son died, if you’re dealing with
different locales. 

The quickest way to learn
which newspapers were operat-
ing during a particular timeframe
is by going to the Library of
Congress website at www.loc.gov
or the US Newspaper Project at
www.neh.gov/projects/usnp.html.
Reference books, such as
American Newspapers 1821-1936 —
A Union List, are also available at
most public libraries.

If two newspapers circulated
at the same time, check them
both. One may print a longer ver-
sion. And don’t quit with the first
obituary you spy. A more detailed
one may appear the next day. 

Microfilmed back issues of

most major newspapers are usu-
ally kept at the main public
library in a given area. (See
www.publiclibraries.com/ for a list.)
Some libraries index their obitu-
aries, but many don’t. 

Today, though, most of us
want immediate gratification and
thus, many people subscribe to
fee-based sites. But look before
you pay. Obituaries no older than
a decade may be online at a
newspaper’s website. At
www.tampabay.com, for example,
you can access complete obituar-
ies published in the St. Petersburg
Times dating back to 1 January
1987. The Pittsburgh Tribune-
Review at www.triblive.com,
archives obituaries back to 2001
for newspapers it owns in several
Pennsylvania counties. Neither
paper charges for online obits.

Savvy rooters also make use
of free sites, such as www.obit
central.com, www.arrangeonline.com
and www3.sympatico.ca/bkinnon
/obit_links.htm, which provide
links and indexes to obits. You
might also get lucky at sites like
www.theoldentimes.com/ and the
obituary message board at
www.genforum.com.

The easily searched database
at www.mcusa-archives.org/Menn
Obits/ features complete obituar-
ies from the Herald of Truth (1864-
1908), the Gospel Witness (1905-08)
and the Gospel Herald (1908-98),
weekly newspapers produced by
the Mennonite Church. (Its
Canadian counterpart at
www.mennonites.ca/canada.html
also contains additional
resources, such as ships’ passen-
ger lists.)

Even if you think you don’t
have Mennonite or Amish ances-
tors, don’t ignore these sites. The
majority of the decedents are of
German extraction— a potential
connection to about 25 percent of
America’s population — and
many are people who migrated
from the US to Canada.
Occasionally, people of other reli-
gious backgrounds pop up. (One
of my Baptist ancestors appears
on the site.) 

More current obits from The
Mennonite and the Mennonite
Weekly Review are included in
abstract form. But that’s chang-
ing, according to Thelma Martin,
a volunteer with the Lazarus
Project at the Mennonite

FFiinnddiinngg
AAnnsswweerrss  iinn  tthhee

OObbiittuuaarriieess
DONNA MURRAY SHOWS YOU HOW TO SEARCH

OBITUARIES ONLINE
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Archives. Data, currently being
collected from people who knew
the deceased, is being added to
the database by volunteers.

In addition to a national
search, try going local. You might
find a site comparable to the
Obituary Index at the Rutherford
B. Hayes Center in Ohio at
http://index.rbhayes.org/hayes/index/
that features obits dating back to
1810. Copies may be obtained by
regular mail or e-mail for $2.50
US each.

Libraries, like the Cleveland
Public Library at www.cpl.org,
offer another potential online
source. Click on Necrology File to
search an index of death notices
that appeared from 1850 to 1975
in the Cleveland Plain Dealer; from
1833, 1847-48, 1876, 1878-79 in the
Cleveland Herald; and from 1941 to
1975 in the Cleveland Press. E-mail
the library to obtain a copy of the
obit you want. No charge for
three or less obituaries. 

The Adams Memorial Library
in Latrobe, Pennsylvania spon-
sors the Dead-a-Base at

www.adamslib.org/catalogs/deada
base/, an index of the obituary and
death notice listings as they
appeared in the Latrobe Bulletin
from its first issue on 18
December 1902 to the present.
You’ll pay about $3 per obit.

Geographical sites pertaining
to where the decedents were born
or where their families lived are
another option. Start with a pop-
ular site like www.rootsweb
.com/~usgenweb/, but don’t limit
yourself to the obituary project.
County archive sites often contain
obits that don’t appear elsewhere. 

And finally, don’t skip this
site: http://freepages.genealogy.roots
web.com/~obitl/ovlist.html, where
you’ll find a cadre of volunteers
who are willing to look up infor-
mation for you.

Keep in mind that data
gleaned from an obituary is only
as reliable as the memory of the
person who provided it. It’s up to
you to verify the facts
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Donna Murray, a former
newspaper reporter, is an
experienced genealogy
researcher, lecturer and free-
lance writer. She lives in St.
Petersburg, Florida.
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ILLINOIS DEATH CERTIFICATES - 1916-1947, - The
Illinois State Genealogical Society (ISGS) has established
this project to assist members and researchers who do not
have easy access to the Illinois State Archives to obtain
death certificate copies. Cost per certificate is $6.00 for
ISGS members, $10.00 for non-members. For non-certified
copies of 1916-1947 death certificates go the ISGS web site
at http://www.rootsweb.com/~ilsgs/index.html, click on the
link for death certificates http://www.rootsweb.com/~ilsgs
/projects/deathcerts.html and follow the ordering directions.

SCOTTISH ANCESTRY. Were they from Aberdeenshire,
Banffshire or Moray? We can help you to uncover your
ancestors. Extensive mail-order catalogue covering all
Scotland. Membership is £15. Aberdeen & NE Scotland
FHS, 158-164 King St., Aberdeen, AB24 5BD, Scotland. 
E-mail:enquiries@anesfhs.org.uk. Website: www.anesfhs.org.uk

EXPERT ITALIAN & LATIN TRANSLATION.
Handwriting specialist. Genealogical, family history
records, deeds, personal correspondence. Juliet Viola
Kniffen, M.A., 1908 Grant Street, Berkeley, CA 94703-
1510, USA; e-mail scans to: julietviola@comcast.net;
www.julietviola.com

MEET EARLY SETTLERS OF MANHATTAN through
Gloria Waldron Hukle’s well researched l7th century 
historical novel, MANHATTAN SEEDS OF THE BIG
APPLE. Visit www.gloriawaldronhukle.name for events 
and reviews or see www.booksbywaldronhukle.com,
www.amazon.com, www.barnesandnoble.com. Tel orders: 
1-877-349-2986, email: sales@katcas.com

To advertise e-mail jeanette@moorshead.com or telephone toll-
free 1-888-326-2476 (EST).

CLASSIFIED ADVERTISING
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MORE THAN 58 MILLION Americans
claim German ancestry, easily out-
numbering those of Irish or
English descent, and making
German the country’s largest eth-
nic group. If you’re an average
American, you have at least some
German ancestry. 

If you have both British Isles
and Germanic ancestry, you’ll
probably tackle the British and
Irish branches of your family tree
first because at least you'll deal
with English-language records.
Tracing your German ancestry
involves challenges, such as name
changes, foreign-language records
and strange handwriting.

But you needn’t be intimidat-
ed by German genealogy. We’ll
show you, step by step, how to
uncover clues in home sources,
how to search the best databases
for German immigrants and how
to access original records from
Germany. 

STEP 1. CHECK HOME SOURCES
If a recent generation of your fam-
ily emigrated from Germany, start
by checking home sources for
clues to your immigrant ancestors.
Gather old letters, postcards, fami-
ly Bibles, diaries and obituaries
and scour them for your ances-
tor’s name and places of residence

in Germany. Be on the lookout for
dates and places of birth and mar-
riage in Germany, the date of emi-
gration, the place of departure, the
ship’s name and the port and date
of arrival in North America.

Once you’ve extracted clues
from home sources, contact your
relatives to see if they have other
records. You never know — a sec-
ond cousin just might have inher-
ited a stash of old family papers.
Interview older relatives for infor-
mation on your immigrant ances-
tors’ places of birth in Germany,
and their occupations, religious
affiliations and name changes.

As you gather this informa-
tion, record it on pedigree charts
and family group sheets. And be
sure to record where you found
each piece of information, whether
your source was a family Bible or
an interview with a great-aunt.
Genealogy software makes these
tasks easy.

STEP 2. SEARCH COMPILED
RECORDS
Use the information
you gathered from
home sources to
search for
more clues
online.

FamilySearch, www.familysearch.org,
the genealogy site from the
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-
day Saints (the Mormons), has
several large databases. Click on
the Search tab to search all the
files at once, including the
International Genealogical Index
(IGI), which lists more than 25
million births, baptisms and mar-
riages from Germany. Many of
them were extracted from original
church records and are very reli-
able, while member-submitted
entries are more error-prone.
Check the IGI for your direct
ancestors and their siblings. If the
surname is uncommon, see where
it occurs most frequently.

Online family trees are a terrif-
ic way to take advantage of other
genealogists’ findings. For exam-
ple, RootsWeb’s WorldConnect
Project, http://worldconnect.roots
web.com, contains 528 million

names in family trees sub-
mitted by researchers. The
Ancestry World Tree,
www.ancestry.com, also free,
contains the same names,
but allows wildcard search-
ing. Use a * to represent zero
or more characters. A search
for Schul*z finds Schulz or
Schultz.

The German Connection
RICK CRUME SHOWS YOU HOW TO TRACK DOWN YOUR GERMAN ANCESTORS IN SIX EASY STEPS!

The historic
Reichstag
building in
Berlin.
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County and town histories
often include biographies of pio-
neers and local residents. When
the subjects are immigrants, biog-
raphies frequently reveal their
places of birth and dates of immi-
gration. Published family histories
typically begin with an immigrant
family and trace their descendants
for several generations.

You can find local histories
and family histories at public
libraries with large genealogy col-
lections, but many are now avail-
able online. If your public library
subscribes to HeritageQuest
Online, you can access more than
22,000 family and local histories
for free at the library or from home
by logging in with your library
card number. Ancestry.com also
provides online access to thou-
sands of family and local histories.
The cost is $19.95 a month or
$155.40 a year for the US collec-
tion, but you can access some of it
for free at libraries subscribing to
Ancestry Library Edition.

The Family History Library in
Salt Lake City has microfilmed
many family and local histories
and you can borrow the micro-
films through local Family History
Centers. To find local histories
available for loan, go to
FamilySearch, www.familysearch.org,
click on Family History Library
Catalog, select Place Search and
enter the name of a town or coun-
ty. To find family histories, do a
surname search.

STEP 3. CONSULT ORIGINAL RECORDS
Records kept at the local or nation-
al level in the US may reveal your
immigrant ancestor’s hometown. 

The US federal census, taken
every 10 years since 1790, lists only
heads of household up to 1840, but
everybody starting in 1850.
Records from 1850 to 1930, the
most recent census open to the
public, usually give the country or
region of birth, not a specific town.
You can access census records
online through HeritageQuest
Online (head-of-household index-
es) and Ancestry.com (every-name
indexes).

Obituaries, especially those
published in small-town news-
papers since the late 19th century,

often give an immigrant’s specific
place of birth. Some newspapers
are online, but you usually need to
order them on microfilm through
interlibrary loan. The Library of
Congress’s Chronicling America:
Historic American Newspapers,
www.loc.gov/chroniclingamerica/,
includes both digitized newspa-
pers and a directory of US news-
papers published since 1690.
Vitalrec.com gives the location and
fees for death records, usually kept
at the county or state level since
the early 20th century. 

Do a Place search of the FHL
Catalog to find records of the
towns, counties and states where

your ancestors lived. Among the
topics you’ll find listed at the
county level, naturalization
records typically give the immi-
grant’s name, age and country of
origin, and more recent records
include a specific place of origin.

STEP 4. CHECK PASSENGER LISTS
AND EMIGRATION RECORDS
Millions of emigrants left Germany
in three large waves:
� 1683 to 1820: Escaping reli-
gious persecution and economic
hardship, many of these emi-
grants were Protestants from
Switzerland and the Palatinate
area of southwestern Germany,
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� Bremen Passenger Lists 1920-
1939
www.schiffslisten.de/index_en.html
Bremen started keeping passen-
ger departure lists in 1832, but
most of them were lost in war or
discarded for lack of space. Only
this site’s 2,851 lists, naming
637,880 passengers, survive.
� Emigration from Southwest
Germany (Auswanderung aus
Südwestdeutschland)
www.auswanderer-bw.de
Compiled from various sources,
this index includes records from
the 18th through the 20th cen-
turies. Most of the Baden records
cover 1850 to 1880. The
Württemberg and Hohenzollern
lists contain more than 53,000
names, mostly from 1800 to 1860.
Matches show the emigrant's
name, hometown, year of emi-
gration and destination, if given
in the original record.
� German Emigrants Database
(Deutsche Auswanderer-
Datenbank)
www.dad-recherche.de/hmb/
Drawing on passenger lists of
ships leaving German ports for
the United States, this database
names 4.4 million emigrants and
covers the years 1820 to 1833,
1840 to 1891, 1904 and 1907.
Eventually it will cover 1820 to
1939.

� German Immigrants: Lists of
Passengers Bound from Bremen
to New York, 1847-1871 $
www.worldvitalrecords.com
The passenger departure lists for
the port of Bremen were
destroyed, but the lists for 1847
to 1871 have been partially
reconstructed.
� Hamburg Passenger Lists,
1850-1934 $
www.ancestry.com/search/db.aspx?d
bid=1068
The most important surviving
passenger departure lists are the
Hamburg lists, which include
each passenger’s last place of
residence and often the place of
birth. About one-third of the pas-
sengers departing Hamburg
came from Germany, but the rest
came from Eastern Europe.

This database contains digi-
tal images of the original records.
A partial index covering the
years 1890 to 1913 contains 2.5
million names. Another 2.5 mil-
lion names are unindexed.

If you don’t have a departure
date and are searching years that
have not been indexed, browse
the handwritten indexes in the
companion database.
� Hamburg Passenger Lists,
Handwritten Indexes, 1855-1934 $
www.ancestry.com/search/db.aspx?d
bid=1166
These handwritten indexes, writ-
ten in German, list five million
names.

PASSENGER DEPARTURE LISTS
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who settled in Pennsylvania. 
Most of the passengers bound

for North America disembarked in
Philadelphia, but some landed in
New York, South Carolina and
Nova Scotia. The Palatine Families of
New York 1710, a two-volume
study by Henry Z. Jones, docu-
ments all 847 families who arrived
in colonial New York from
Germany in 1710.
� 1820 to 1871: Fleeing wars, mili-
tary service and crop failures,
these emigrants came primarily
from southwestern Germany and
settled in Ohio, Indiana,
Wisconsin, Missouri and Texas.
� 1871 to 1914: The largest wave,
these emigrants came from all over
Germany, and included Poles and
Jews. Many settled in New York,
Chicago, St. Louis and other large
cities.

German emigrants from the
same area often left in groups. If
you can’t identify your ancestors’
hometown, research other passen-
gers who came on the same ship
and Germans who settled in the
same area as your ancestors. They
may have come from the same
place in Germany. This technique
is especially useful if your ances-
tors had common last names, but
other passengers on the same list
had unusual surnames.

When researching your immi-
grant ancestor, be on the lookout
for alternate spellings, even radi-
cally different spellings. According
to a county history, my ancestor
Leonard Slip was born in Germany
in 1748 and immigrated to New
York City in 1767, where he was
indentured to a potash maker.
After several fruitless attempts to
find an immigrant named Leonard
Slip or Schlip, I posted a query to a
mailing list and a respondent
pointed out an immigrant named
Johann Leonhard Schloepp, listed
in an index to a book on 18th-cen-
tury Palatine immigrants,
http://feefhs.org/de/pal/gi/palidx/pal
-idx.html. It looked promising, so I
ordered the book on microfilm
through a Family History Center.
That book, in turn, indexed anoth-
er book, called, Genealogical Data
Relating to the German Settlers of
Pennsylvania and Adjacent Territory,
which I also borrowed on micro-

film. This second book had a trans-
lation from a notice in a German-
language newspaper, the
Philadelphische Correspondenz, of 9
September 1791:

“Inquiry for Johann Leonhard
Schloepp and Johann Maar, from Mt.
Taschendorf, in Frankischen Kreis of
Germany, belonging to Reichsfreyherr
[Baron] von Kuenstberg Amt
Obersteinbach, who left there in 1766
for America. Shloepp wrote his par-
ents, June 16, 1774, from the potash
factory in New York, where he was
employed as a cooper.”

That’s him! My ancestor

Leonard Slip, the cooper in a
potash factory in New York, was
born Johann Leonhard Schloepp. 

STEP 5. RESEARCH YOUR
ANCESTOR’S HOMETOWN AND
PINPOINT IT ON A MAP.
Once you have identified your
ancestor’s place of origin, locate it
on a map and determine the juris-
dictions where records were kept. 

As a result of wars and politi-
cal changes, Germany’s external
borders and county, province and
state jurisdictions have been
altered. Historical atlases,
gazetteers and histories are good
sources of information on name
and boundary changes.
Genealogy.net, www.genealogienetz

.de/reg/rindex.htm, has an index to
states, provinces and regions of
Germany, along with historical
maps.

Keep in mind that Germany
has many towns with the same
name. My ancestor, Johann
Leonhard Schloepp, was said to
have been born in Frankfurt-on-
the Cross, Germany. But I couldn’t
find a place with an equivalent
name in German or families with a
similar surname in or near the
large cities of Frankfurt am Main
or Frankfurt on der Oder. 

The 1791 inquiry about
Leonhard in the Philadelphia
newspaper mentioned places
called Mt. Taschendorf and
Obersteinbach. JewishGen’s
ShtetlSeeker-Town Search,
www.jewishgen.org/Communities
/LocTown.asp, lists places in Central
and Eastern Europe, including
eight Frankfurts in present-day
Germany. You can also find towns
within a 10-mile radius of a place.
A search for towns around
Frankfurt in northern Bavaria
shows that Markt Taschendorf lies
1.4 miles to the north-northeast
and Obersteinbach 1.4 miles to the
south-southeast. As it turns out,
Leonhard didn’t come from either
of the large Frankfurts, but from a
small village called Frankfurt in
Central Franconia, a region that
lies in the northern part of the
modern-day state of Bavaria. 

ProGenealogists, www.pro
genealogists.com/germany/gazetteers
main.html/, has gazetteers for most
of Germany’s provinces. They give
each town’s parish and civil regis-
tration offices — the key informa-
tion you need to find church and
vital records. The gazetteer of
Bavaria shows that Frankfurt is in
the district of Scheinfeld, the
province of Mittelfranken, the
Evangelical (Lutheran) parish of
Obersteinbach and the Catholic
parish of Scheinfeld.

Genealogy.net, www.genealogy.
net/index_en.html, from the German
Society for Computer Genealogy,
has many useful resources for
German family history, including
contact information for German
genealogical societies, archives and
libraries. German genealogical
societies often maintain indexes,

An undated/unidentified German fam-
ily upon their arrival in Québec City.
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American Family Immigration
History Center
www.ellisislandrecords.org
The Ellis Island site provides
details on more than 22 million
immigrants, travelers and crew
members who came through
Ellis Island and the Port of New
York between 1892 and 1924. US
citizens returning home also
appear in the database, so check
for your ancestors who might
have traveled abroad. 

Once you find your ances-
tors on a passenger list, you can
view an image of the manifest
and order a framed copy. You
can also purchase a picture of
the ship and create an electronic
family history scrapbook.

Background and Index for Full
Names Finding Aid: Full
Names from the Pal-Index
(Palatine Index), 1727-1775, by
Charles M. Hall
http://feefhs.org/de/pal/gi/palidx/pal
-idx.html
This index covers about 6,000
Germanic emigrants from
Alsace-Lorraine, Switzerland
and southern Germany listed in
a book, Pal-Index: A Surname
Index of Eighteenth Century
Immigrants. For more details,
refer to the book on Family
History Library microfilm
1,036,428, item four.

Castle Garden 
www.castlegarden.org
Castle Garden opened in New
York City as America’s first offi-
cial immigration reception cen-
ter in 1855 and processed more
than eight million passengers

before it closed in 1890. This site
has information on 10 million
passengers (including returning
residents) arriving in New York
City from 1830 to 1892. 

Immigrants in Pennsylvania
from 1727 to 1776 $
www.ancestry.com/search/db.aspx?
dbid=6060
This database has the text of
Daniel Rupp’s book, A Collection
of Upwards of Thirty Thousand
Names of German, Swiss, Dutch,
French and other Immigrants in
Pennsylvania from 1727 to 1776, a
transcription of ships’ passenger
lists published in 1856.

Rupp’s transcribed passen-
ger lists are known to contain
many spelling errors and to have
mixed up the original order of
the names — sometimes a clue
to families traveling together.
Strassburger & Hinke’s later
work, published in 1934 and
transcribed in part on various
websites, is considered more
accurate. But even that more
meticulous duo sometimes mis-
read signatures on the passenger
arrival lists.

The National Archives Access
to Archival Databases: Data
Files Relating to the
Immigration of Germans to the
United States
http://aad.archives.gov/aad/
This database lists more than
four million passengers, mostly
German, who arrived in the
United States between 1850 and
1897. To search the file, click on
Passenger Lists and the Search
button next to “Germans to
America Passenger Data File,
1850 — 1897”.

The Olive Tree Genealogy: List
of Ships to Philadelphia
Pennsylvania 1727-1808
www.olivetreegenealogy.com/ships
/palship_list.shtml
This list includes links to passen-
ger lists on this site and else-
where, drawing on transcrip-
tions from Rupp, Strassburger &
Hinke and other sources.

The Palatine Project:
Reconstructed Passenger Lists,
1683-1819
www.palproject.org
This site uses sources from both
colonial America and German-
speaking countries to reconstruct
passenger lists in the first large
wave of German immigration.
Be sure to read the site’s articles
on tracing German immigrant
ancestors.

Pennsylvania German Pioneers
http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.
com/~pagermanpioneers
Most of Strassburger & Hinke’s
book, Pennsylvania German
Pioneers, a list of German immi-
grants arriving in Philadelphia
between 1727 and 1808, has been
transcribed online, but on sites
scattered across the web. This
site is a directory of those tran-
scriptions. There’s no index to
names, so you’ll have to browse.

Pennsylvania German Pioneers
— Ships from Germany to
Philadelphia Carrying Palatines 
http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.
com/~pagermanshipslists
Like the previous site, this one
has links to online transcriptions
of lists of German passengers
arriving in Philadelphia. This
site covers 1727 to 1775.

PASSENGER ARRIVAL LISTS

collections and lists of members’
surname interests. They may be
able to help you find a researcher
who can investigate local records
for you. 

To take full advantage of a
German genealogical society’s
resources, it helps if you can read
and write German. If you can’t,
use online translators, such as

Google Language Tools, www.
google.com/language_tools and
SystranBox, www.systranbox.com.

The Germany GenWeb Project,
www.rootsweb.com/~wggerman, has
many useful genealogical
resources organized by state and
district. The page for Mittelfranken
has links to town websites, a use-
ful source for city administrators’

contact information. Sometimes
they can help you locate your
ancestor’s exact place of residence
and make contact with local 
historians or distant relatives still
living in the area. German city
website addresses are typically in
this format, www.cityname.de. For
instance, the town of Scheinfeld
has a website at www.scheinfeld.de.
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